
TABLE OF CONTENTS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 22

Consolidated Balance Sheets 32

Consolidated Statements of Income 34

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 35

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity 36

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 37

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements 54

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 54

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 55

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 56

Supplemental Financial Information 57

Directors and Management 58

Shareholder Information IBC

Consolidated Financial Statements



analyzes its goodwill for i m p a i rment on an annual basis. No
i m p a i rment of goodwill was i d e n t i fied during the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

The carrying value of the Company’s net deferred tax assets
( n e t of valuation allowances) assumes the Company will be
able to generate sufficient future taxable income in certain tax
jurisdictions. The Company may be re q u i red to re c o rd additional
v a l u a t i o n allowances against its deferred tax assets re s u l t i n g
in additional income tax expense if the Company’s estimates
of future taxable income in those jurisdictions decrease. The
Company may be re q u i red to release all or a portion of re c o rd e d
valuation allowances against its deferred tax assets resulting in
lower income tax expense, except for such allowances for
d e f e rred tax assets related to acquisitions, the release of which
would reduce goodwill. The release of valuation allowances
would result from changes in the Company’s estimates of re a l i z e d
capital gains, utilization of state net operating loss carry f o rw a rd s
and utilization of acquired tax credits subject to annual limitations.

The Company applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and re l a t e d
i n t e r p retations in accounting for its stock-based compensation 
plans and applies the disclosure-only provisions of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), as
amended by FASB Statement No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148”).
No stock-based compensation cost is re flected in net income for
options or purchases under the employee stock purchase plan.
P ro forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share are
included in the Stock-Based Compensation section of Note 1 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements as if compensation 
cost for options granted under the Company’s stock-based
compensation plans and purchases under the employee stock
p u rchase plan had been determined based on the fair value at
the grant dates consistent with the provisions of SFAS 123.

Reclassifications
During 2004, the Company re c l a s s i fied certain items in its con-
s o l i d a t e d income statements. The re c l a s s i fications affected the
categories of Selling, General and Administrative expenses,
Asset Impairment Charges and Gain on Disposal of Assets – net.
The change primarily reflects the reclassification of Asset
Impairment Charges and Gain on Disposal of Assets – net from
Selling, General and Administrative expenses to separate line
items. Financial data for all periods presented have been reclas-
sified for comparability. The reclassifications and transfers had
no impact on net income or shareholders’ equity as pre v i o u s l y
reported. Certain incentive compensation costs within Selling,
General and Administrative expense in 2002 were re c l a s s i f i e d
from Corporate to the Printed Products and Software & Services
segments to conform to the 2004 and 2003 classifications.
Certain other reclassifications have been made in the 2003 
and 2002 financial statements and notes to financial statements
to conform to the 2004 classific a t i o n s .

John H. Harland Company (the “Company”) operates its business
in three segments. The Printed Products segment (“Printed
P roducts”) includes checks, direct marketing activities and
analytical services marketed primarily to financial institutions.
The Software and Services segment (“Software & Services”) is
focused on the financial institution market and includes core
p rocessing applications and services for credit unions and
community banks, lending and mortgage origination applications,
mortgage servicing applications, branch automation applications
and customer relationship management applications. The
S c a n t ron segment (“Scantron”) includes scanning equipment
and software, scannable forms, survey solutions, curr i c u l u m
planning software, testing and assessment tools, training and fie l d
maintenance services. Scantron sells these products and serv i c e s
to the education, commercial and financial institution markets.

Critical Accounting Policies
The Company has identified certain of its accounting policies as
critical to its business operations and the understanding of its
results of operations. These policies include revenue re c o g n i t i o n ,
i m p a i rment of long-lived assets, goodwill and other intangible
a s s e t s , income taxes and stock-based compensation.

The Company considers its revenue recognition policy as
critical to its re p o rted results of operations primarily in its
S o f t w a re & Services and Scantron segments. For software that
is installed, customized and integrated by the Company, re v e n u e
is recognized on a percentage-of-completion basis as the serv i c e s
are performed. Estimates of efforts to complete a project are
used in the percentage-of-completion calculation. Due to the
u n c e rtainties inherent in these estimates, actual results could
d i ff e r from those estimates.

The Company reviews long-lived assets and certain intangible
assets for impairment when events or changes in circ u m s t a n c e s
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be re c o v e r-
able. In the third quarter of 2004, the Company re c o rded a
c h a rge of $7.9 million before income taxes related to cert a i n
p o rtions of the Printed Products customer care infrastru c t u re
p roject. During the second and fourth quarters of 2004, the
Company re c o rded a combined charge of $2.4 million before
income taxes on a Printed Products facility to adjust the basis 
of the facility to its estimated fair value. The facility was closed
pursuant to the Printed Products plant consolidation plan. In
the second quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a charge of
$0.3 million before income taxes for write-downs of an equity
investment that was subsequently disposed of during the fourt h
quarter of 2002.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions re g a rd i n g
f u t u re cash flows in its review of the carrying values of goodwill
and other intangible assets to assess re c o v e r a b i l i t y. If these esti-
mates and assumptions change in the future (which may occur
due to changes in the Company’s business prospects, market
t rends or other economic factors which would impact pro j e c t e d
annual sales, operating profit and cash flows), the Company
may be re q u i red to re c o rd impairment charges. The Company
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
2004 VERSUS 2003

Sales
Consolidated sales for the years ended December 31, 2004
a n d 2003 were as follows (in thousands):

2004 2003

% of % of
Amount Total Amount Total

Sales:
Printed Products $ 488,688 61.2% $498,257 63.3%
Software & Services 193,843 24.3% 176,833 22.5%
Scantron 116,643 14.6% 113,236 14.4%
Eliminations (687) (0.1)% (1,658) (0.2)%

Total $ 798,487 100.0% $786,668 100.0%

Consolidated sales for the year ended December 31, 2004
w e re $798.5 million, compared to $786.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003, an increase of $11.8 million, or
1.5%. Software & Services and Scantron sales increases more
than offset a decrease in Printed Products sales. Sales of
p ro d u c t s , which consist of all Printed Products sales (except
analytical services), software licensing sales, scanning equipment
and scannable forms, hosted software applications and other
p roducts decreased $0.1 million, from $640.9 million in 2003
to $640.8 million in 2004. Sales of services, which consist of
software maintenance services, field maintenance services, core
processing services, analytical and consulting services and
other services increased $11.9 million, or 8.1%, to $157.7
million in 2004 from $145.8 mill i o n in 2003.

Printed Products sales were $488.7 million in 2004 compare d
to $498.3 million in 2003, a decrease of $9.6 million, or
1.9%. Domestic imprint check printing operations, which
accounted for a majority of the Printed Products sales, were unfa-
vorably impacted by a decrease in the average price per unit of
5.4% partially offset by a volume increase of 1.8%. The decre a s e
in the average price per unit was due primarily to incentives and
price reductions resulting from contract renewals and lower pric-
i n g for a major new customer. The volume increase was primari-
ly due to the addition of a major new customer in December
2 0 0 4 , the favorable impact of package size reductions as well
as i n c reased volumes in large accounts partially offset by a con-
t i n u e d general market decline and the loss of certain customers
during 2003. The Company estimates the general market vol-
ume decline in check products due to the continuing expansion
of a l t e rnative payment systems is currently 4% to 5% on an
a n n u a l basis. Sales of computer checks and related products
increased 2.5% in 2004 from 2003 due primarily to the addi-
tion of a new retail customer in 2004 and increased sales with
an existing customer in 2004. Sales for direct marketing
activities d e c reased 4.9% in 2004 from 2003 due primarily to
lower analytical services sales attributable to contracts not being
renewed with certain major banks, lower direct marketing sales
in several large accounts and lower investment services sales.

Significant Events
In September 2004, the Company concluded that upgrading 
c e rtain existing customer care systems in its Printed Pro d u c t s
s e g m e n t would be more economical than continued develop-
ment of portions of certain new customer care systems for the
s e g m e n t . The decision to terminate development efforts
required a non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $7.9 mil-
lion. The Company will continue with development and imple-
mentation of the remaining portions of the customer care
i n f r a s t ru c t u re pro j e c t for the Printed Products segment.

In September 2003, the Company announced a re o rg a n i z a t i o n
of its Printed Products operations including the consolidation of
its domestic manufacturing operations from 14 plants to 9 plants,
which was completed during the third quarter of 2004. Two of
the facilities that were closed were leased. One of these facilities
is under lease through late 2005 and the other is under lease
t h rough mid-2010. During the third quarter of 2004, the
Company sublet the latter facility to a third party for the re m a i n-
i n g term of the lease.

In addition to the plant consolidation, Printed Products imple-
mented other staffing reductions beginning in the fourth quart e r
of 2003 which were completed during the third quarter of 2004.
These actions were primarily due to excess capacity in pro d u c t i o n
facilities resulting from efficiencies realized from digital printing
technology and lower volumes attributable to the losses of cert a i n
l a rge customers, including a direct check marketer, and general
market volume decline. The Company believes these actions
bring its production and support stru c t u res in line with its busi-
ness levels. Management expects to achieve savings increasing to
a p p roximately $20 million on an annual run rate basis by the end
of 2005 as a result of the re o rg a n i z a t i o n .

The net pre-tax expenses associated with the plant consoli-
dations totaled $8.1 million consisting of employee severance
($2.8 million), revision of depreciable lives and salvage values
of furn i t u re and equipment, asset impairment charge and dis-
posal gains and losses ($2.3 million), relocation and other costs
($2.1 million) and contract termination costs related to leaseholds
($0.9 million). The net pre-tax expenses associated with other
s t a ffing reduction actions totaled $4.5 million consisting of
employee severance costs.

The following table presents the net expenses by income
statement caption for plant consolidation and other s t a ff i n g
reduction actions for the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003 (in thousands):

2004 2003    

Plant consolidation expenses:

Cost of products sold $ 5,347 $ 3,950
Asset impairment charges 2,444 –
Gain on disposal of assets – net (3,612) –

Total $ 4,179 $ 3,950

Other staffing reduction actions:
Cost of products sold $ – $ 30
Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,644 2,871
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Gross Profit
Consolidated gross profit and gross profit by segment for the 
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows 
(in thousands):

2004 2003

% of % of
Amount Sales(a) Amount Sales(a)

Gross Profit:
Printed Products $ 194,073 39.7% $199,126 40.0%
Software & Services 130,991 67.6% 120,294 68.0%
Scantron 65,919 56.5% 62,428 55.1%

Total $ 390,983 49.0% $381,848 48.5%

(a)Percentage of sales for each segment is calculated using sales for that segment.

The increase in consolidated gross profit was the result of a
favorable change in sales mix, cost management and pro d u c t i v i t y
improvement initiatives.

Printed Products gross profit decreased $5.1 million, or
2.5%, to $194.1 million in 2004 from 2003 and decreased as
a percentage of sales from 40.0% in 2003 to 39.7% in 2004.
The decrease in gross profit occurred in computer checks and
related products, direct marketing and checks. The decrease
in computer checks and related products was due primarily 
to lower pricing for a large software customer, costs related to
the implementation of digital printing technology and increased
plant consolidation costs partially offset by higher volumes. 
The decrease in direct marketing was due primarily to lower
sales and increased plant consolidation costs. The decrease in
checks was due primarily to lower pricing in domestic checks
and international operations and increased cost of sales in bank
forms operations partially offset by higher volumes in domestic
checks. A reduction in the Printed Products accrued vacation
liability of $1.3 million, which was recorded in the fourth 
quarter of 2004 as a result of a policy change for employees’
paid time off, partially offset the impact of those unfavorable
factors. Printed Products gross profit was unfavorably impacted
in 2004 and 2003 by plant consolidation costs of $5.3 million
and $4.0 million, respectively (see Note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements).

Software & Services gross profit increased $10.7 million, or
8.9%, from 2003 to $131.0 million in 2004 due primarily to
acquisitions and the combined impact of increased sales and
lower costs for its other businesses. As a percentage of sales,
Software & Services gross profit decreased to 67.6% for 2004
from 68.0% for 2003 due primarily to the impact of acquired
operations and a change in sales mix. Excluding the impact of
acquisitions, Software & Services gross profit increased approxi-
mately 3.7% in 2004 compared to 2003 due primarily to an
increase in sales in bank core processing applications and
branch automation applications for financial institutions, 
lower costs and a change in sales mix. 

S o f t w a re & Services sales increased $17.0 million, or 9.6%,
to $193.8 million in 2004 from $176.8 million in 2003. The
i n c rease in sales was due primarily to a full year of operations
for the Premier Systems, Inc. (“PSI”) acquisition in 2003 and
the acquisition of Phoenix System in 2004 and certain assets
and operations of Greatland Corporation and Mitek Systems in
2004 (see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
Excluding the impact of the acquisitions, Software & Serv i c e s
sales increased approximately $4.2 million, or 2.4%, due pri-
marily to increases in core systems and retail solutions sales.
C o re systems sales increases were primarily due to incre a s e d
customer installations of banking systems and increased sales
for credit union service bureau services which were part i a l l y
o ffset by decreased sales of credit union systems. Retail solu-
tions sales increases were primarily due to higher sales of
branch automation products, partially offset by lower sales of
customer relationship management applications. Incre a s e d
sales resulting from the release of a new mortgage loan pro d u c t
in 2004 were offset by decreased sales of other mortgage loan
s e rvicing and production pro d u c t s .

At December 31, 2004, Software & Services backlog was
$108.6 million, an increase of $7.0 million from the backlog
at December 31, 2003. The increase in backlog was due to
acquisitions partially offset by the drawdown of backlog re l a t-
ed to the new mortgage product and weaker bookings in cre d i t
union and banking systems over the last 12 months. Excluding
the impact of acquisitions, backlog decreased 3.4% fro m
December 31, 2003. Approximately $48.5 million or 44.7%
of the backlog at December 31, 2004 is expected to be deliv-
e red over the next twelve months and $60.1 million or 55.3%
is expected to be delivered beyond the next twelve months due
to the long-term nature of certain service contracts. 

S c a n t ron sales were $116.6 million in 2004 compared to
$113.2 million in 2003, an increase of $3.4 million, or
3.0%, due primarily to increases in sales of testing form s ,
s o f t w a re and services in the education market, survey serv i c e s
and field services, partially offset by decreased sales of cus-
tom data collection forms and imaging solutions. Sales of cus-
tom data collection forms were lower for commercial market
applications and non-testing applications in the education
market due to a continuing trend in data collection methods
moving away from optical mark reading to imaging and dire c t
input technologies. Scantron backlog at December 31, 2004
was $18.0 million, of which $17.2 million is expected to be 
d e l i v e red in twelve months or less.
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f rom a change in life expectancy assumptions, increased 
p rofessional fees for tax services, increased incentive 
compensation expenses, increased expenses related to 
e n v i ronmental liabilities and increased insurance costs.

Asset Impairment Charges
Asset impairment charges in 2004 totaled $10.3 million and 
consisted of a $7.9 million asset impairment charge related to the
decision to terminate development efforts on certain portions of
Printed Products customer care infrastru c t u re project and a $2.4
million charge on a Printed Products facility to adjust the basis of
the facility to its estimated fair value. The facility was closed in
2004 pursuant to the Printed Products plant consolidation plan.

Gain on Disposal of Assets – net
During 2004, the Company realized a net gain of $3.4 million
on the disposal of assets primarily due to a Printed Pro d u c t s
plant consolidation-related net gain of $3.7 million realized on
a facility that was closed and sold during the first quarter of
2004. During 2003, the Company realized a net gain of $1.2
million primarily consisting of a $0.8 million gain in Printed
P roducts on the sale of a former check printing facility and a
$0.2 million gain in Corporate on the sale of certain property.

Amortization of Other Intangible Assets
A m o rtization of other intangible assets increased $0.5 million,
or 14.6%, to $3.8 million in 2004 compared to $3.3 million 
in 2003 due primarily to the impact of acquired operations.

Consolidated Income From Operations
Consolidated income from operations increased $1.9 million, or
2.1%, to $91.3 million for 2004 from $89.4 million for 2003
primarily due to increased gross pro fit, lower SG&A and incre a s e d
gains on disposal of assets, which were substantially offset by
asset impairment charges and increased amortization of other
intangible assets, all of which are described in more detail above.

Other Income (Expense)
Other Income (Expense) increased $0.8 million to an expense
of $3.4 million in 2004 from an expense of $2.6 million in
2003. The increase was due primarily to a decrease in gains on
sales of investments from $3.0 million in 2003 to $0.1 million
in 2004 partially offset by lower average interest rates in effect
during 2004 compared to 2003 because of lower amounts 
borrowed at fixed rates, lower debt outstanding during 2004
compared to 2003 and gains in 2004 on investments held in 
a rabbi trust for the Company’s deferred compensation plan for
eligible employees.

Consolidated Income Before Income Taxes
Consolidated income before income taxes increased $1.1 
million, or 1.3%, to $87.9 million for 2004 from $86.8 
million for 2003 due to increased income from operations 
and decreased interest expense partially offset by a decrease 
in gains on sales of investments.

S c a n t ron gross profit increased $3.5 million, or 5.6%, 
f rom 2003 to $65.9 million in 2004 due primarily to an
i n c rease in sales, a change in sales mix and to unfavorable
costs and production inefficiencies experienced during a 
facility relocation that occurred in the first quarter of 2003.
As a percentage of sales, Scantron gross profit increased to
56.5% in 2004 from 55.1% in 2003.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses (“SG&A”)
Consolidated SG&A for the years ended December 31, 2004 
and 2003 were as follows (in thousands):

2004 2003

% of % of
Amount Sales(a) Amount Sales(a)

SG&A:
Printed Products $ 121,022 24.8% $130,585 26.2%
Software & Services 102,111 52.7% 99,543 56.3%
Scantron 32,908 28.2% 36,594 32.3%
Corporate 32,975 23,605

Total $ 289,016 36.2% $290,327 36.9%

(a)Percentage of sales for each segment is calculated using sales for that segment.

Printed Products SG&A decreased $9.6 million, or 7.3%, to
$121.0 million in 2004 from $130.6 million in 2003 due in
part to lower selling, division support, client support and mar-
keting expenses in 2004 resulting from cost reduction initia-
tives and staffing reduction severance charges of $2.9 million
in 2003 compared to $1.6 million in 2004. A reduction in the
Printed Products accrued vacation liability of $1.6 million as a
result of a policy change for employees’ paid time off also had 
a favorable impact on SG&A in the fourth quarter of 2004. The
decrease in Printed Products SG&A was partially offset by an
increase in certain incentive compensation in 2004 compared
to 2003 and to an increase in call center expenses.

Software & Services SG&A increased $2.6 million, or 2.6%, 
to $102.1 million in 2004 from $99.5 million in 2003 due to
the impact of acquisitions during 2003 and 2004, which was
partially offset by cost reduction initiatives implemented during
the year for its other businesses.

Scantron’s SG&A decreased $3.7 million, or 10.1%, to
$32.9 million in 2004 from $36.6 million in 2003. The
decrease was due primarily to lower selling and marketing
expenses and lower product development costs resulting from
cost reduction initiatives implemented in late 2003.

Corporate SG&A increased $9.4 million, or 39.7%, to
$33.0 million in 2004 from $23.6 million in 2003. The
i n c rease was due primarily to increased restricted stock amor-
tization expense resulting from higher utilization of re s t r i c t e d
stock grants in 2004 compared to 2003 and accelerated 
vesting of certain restricted stock grants in 2004 as a re s u l t
of the Company’s favorable stock price perf o rmance (see 
Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), incre a s e d
audit fees largely attributable to Sarbanes-Oxley compliance,
i n c reased deferred compensation expenses resulting primarily
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$30.5 million, or 26.5%, to $145.8 million in 2003 compared
to $115.3 million in 2002. Sales of products consist of all
Printed Products sales (except for analytical services), software
licensing sales, scanning equipment and scannable forms, hosted
software applications and other products. Sales of services 
consist of software maintenance services, field maintenance
services, analytical and consulting services and other services.

Printed Products sales were $498.3 million in 2003 com-
p a red to $526.2 million in 2002, a decrease of $27.9 million, or
5.3%.  Lower volumes in domestic imprint check printing opera-
tions, which decreased 9.4% in 2003 from 2002, accounted 
for a majority of the decrease in Printed Product sales. The vol-
ume decline was primarily attributable to losses of certain larg e
customers, lower volumes from a direct check marketer due to
the loss of that business in late 2003 and general market volume
decline. The impact of the volume decline was moderated by 
an improvement of 3.8% in average price per unit primarily due
to a price increase implemented in July 2002 and the impact 
of the loss of certain large customers that were less favorably
priced. Sales of computer checks and related products also
d e c reased in 2003 compared to 2002 due primarily to the loss
of business with a software company in late 2002, partially off s e t
by the addition of business with another software company in
early 2003. Sales in direct marketing increased slightly due to
higher volumes of statement mailings, partially offset by lower
volumes from credit card promotions. Sales of analytical serv i c e s
also increased in 2003 compared to 2002 due primarily to 
s e rvices re n d e red to two large customers.

S o f t w a re & Services sales for 2003 increased $41.3 million,
or 30.4%, from 2002, due primarily to the impact of a full year
of operations for acquisitions that were made in 2002 as well 
as an acquisition made in June 2003 (see Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements). Excluding the impact of
acquisitions, Software & Services sales increased 2.2% in 2003
c o m p a red to 2002 due primarily to increases in sales of core
p rocessing products and services, lending and deposit origina-
tion products and services and branch automation applications,
which more than offset decreases in sales of mortgage loan origi-
nation, production and servicing solutions and sales of customer
relationship management software and related database market-
ing applications and add-on products. Sales of core pro c e s s i n g
p roducts and services increased due primarily to an increase in
c redit union customer installations, seat licenses and ship and
book sales as well as increased hard w a re sales for banking sys-
tems. Sales of lending products and services increased primarily
due to higher ship and book sales, higher maintenance re v e n u e
and the impact of subscription contracts over the past year.
Retail solutions sales were unfavorably impacted by a decre a s e
in sales of customer relationship management applications,
database marketing applications and add-on products, part i a l l y
o ffset by higher sales of branch automation applications.

At December 31, 2003, Software & Services backlog was
$101.6 million, an increase of $57.7 million from the backlog at
December 31, 2002. The increase in backlog was due primarily
to acquisitions and stronger bookings. Excluding the impact of

Income Taxes
The Company’s consolidated effective income tax rates were
37.3% and 35.5% for 2004 and 2003, re s p e c t i v e l y. The higher
e ffective tax rate for 2004 resulted primarily from the favorable
impact of a release of a valuation allowance related to the uti-
lization of capital loss carry f o rw a rds on the 2003 effective tax
rate and an increase in the effective state tax rate for 2004.
Favorable adjustments in 2004 related to the partial closure of 
a review of the Company’s income tax filings for 1999 and 2000
by the Internal Revenue Service and prior year foreign transfer
pricing agreements partially offset the factors that increased 
the effective tax rate. See Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for factors affecting the tax rate in each year.

Net Income and Earnings Per Share
The Company’s net income for 2004 was $55.1 million com-
pared to $56.0 million for 2003, a decrease of $0.9 million, 
or 1.5%. Basic and diluted earnings per share were $2.02 and
$1.96, respectively, for 2004 compared to basic and diluted
earnings per share of $2.02 and $1.97 respectively, for 2003.
Net income for 2004 included a pre-tax impairment charge 
of $7.9 million related to the decision not to complete certain 
portions of Printed Products customer care infrastructure
p roject, equivalent to $0.17 per share on a diluted basis, and
p re-tax charges of $5.8 million related to the re o rganization of
the Company’s Printed Products segment, equivalent to $0.13
per share on a diluted basis. Net income for 2003 included
p re-tax charges totaling $6.9 million related to the Printed
Products reorganization, equivalent to $0.15 per share on a
diluted basis, and a $3.0 million pre-tax gain on the sale of
investments equivalent to $0.11 per share on a diluted basis. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
2003 VERSUS 2002

Sales
Consolidated sales for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002 were as follows (in thousands):

2003 2002

% of % of
Amount Total Amount Total

Sales:
Printed Products $ 498,257 63.3% $526,201 68.5%
Software & Services 176,833 22.5% 135,568 17.7%
Scantron 113,236 14.4% 107,822 14.0%
Eliminations (1,658) (0.2)% (1,784)    (0.2)%

Total $ 786,668 100.0% $767,807 100.0%

Consolidated sales for the year ended December 31, 2003
w e re $786.7 million, compared to $767.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002, an increase of $18.9 million, or
2.5%. Software & Services and Scantron sales increases more
than offset a decrease in Printed Products sales. Sales of pro d-
ucts decreased $11.6 million, or 1.8%, from $652.5 million in
2002 to $640.9 million in 2003. Sales of services incre a s e d

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERAT I O N S
AND FINANCIAL CONDITION ( c o n t i n u e d )

J o h n  H .  H a r l a n d  C o m p a n y  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s   I 2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t2 6



2003. These plant consolidation costs relate to a plan to 
c o nsolidate Printed Products manufacturing operations from 14
plants to 9 plants during 2004 (see Note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements).

S o f t w a re & Services gross profit for 2003 increased $23.9
million, or 24.8%, over 2002, due primarily to acquisitions. 
As a percentage of sales, Software & Services gross pro f i t
d e c reased to 68.0% for 2003 compared to 71.1% for 2002 due
primarily to the impact of acquired operations and a change 
in sales mix. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, Software 
& Services gross profit increased approximately 1.3% in 2003
compared to 2002 primarily due to an increase in sales in bank
c o re processing applications and branch automation applications
for financial institutions. 

S c a n t ron gross pro fit increased by $1.0 million, or 1.6%, over
2002 to $62.4 million in 2003 due primarily to the addition of
the former EdVISION products and services acquired in July
2002. As a percentage of sales, Scantron gross profit decreased
from 57.0% for 2002 to 55.1% in 2003 due primarily to an
unfavorable change in sales mix and to costs and pro d u c t i o n
inefficiencies experienced during a facility relocation that
occurred in the first quarter of 2003.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses (“SG&A”)
Consolidated SG&A for the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2002 were as follows (in thousands):

2003 2002

% of % of
Amount Sales(a) Amount Sales(a)

SG&A:
Printed Products $ 130,585 26.2% $120,858 23.0%
Software & Services 99,543 56.3% 80,295 59.2%
Scantron 36,594 32.3% 31,929 29.6%
Corporate 23,605 32,162

Total $ 290,327 36.9% $265,244 34.5%

(a)Percentage of sales for each segment is calculated using sales for that segment.

Printed Products SG&A increased $9.7 million, or 8.0%, in
2003 compared to 2002 due in part to $2.9 million of re o rg a n i-
zation costs incurred during the fourth quarter of 2003 (see Note
5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), increased selling
and marketing activities and customer care activities.

S o f t w a re & Services SG&A increased $19.2 million, or 24.0%,
in 2003 compared to 2002 due primarily to the impact of acqui-
sitions and to increased expenditures related to product develop-
ment of a mortgage services application.

S c a n t ro n ’s SG&A increased $4.7 million, or 14.6%, in 2003
c o m p a red to 2002 due primarily to the acquisition of EdVISION,
i n c reased selling and marketing expenses related to developing a
national sales force for software products and services in the
education market and increased product development costs. 

Corporate SG&A decreased $8.6 million, or 26.6%, in 2003
compared to 2002 due primarily to decreases in stock-based
compensation costs related to restricted stock grants, decreased

acquisitions, backlog increased 24.1% from December 31,
2002. Approximately $49.7 million, or 48.9%, of the backlog
at December 31, 2003 is expected to be delivered over the next
twelve months and $51.9 million, or 51.1%, is expected to
be delivered beyond the next twelve months due to the long-
term nature of certain service contracts.

S c a n t ron sales were $113.2 million in 2003 compared to
$107.8 million in 2002, an increase of $5.4 million, or
5.0%, due primarily to a full year of operations in 2003 fro m
the acquisition of EdVISION in July 2002 (see Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements), increases in sales of testing
forms in the education market, imaging products and services,
s u rvey services and field services, which were partially off s e t
by reduced sales of custom data collection forms. Sales of
custom data collection forms were lower for commercial market
applications and non-testing applications in the education
market due to a continuing trend in data collection methods 
m o ving away from optical mark reading to imaging and other
direct input technologies.

Gross Profit
Consolidated gross pro fit and gross pro fit by segment for the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 were as follows 
(in thousands):

2003 2002

% of % of
Amount Sales(a) Amount Sales(a)

Gross Profit:
Printed Products $ 199,126 40.0% $206,586 39.3%
Software & Services 120,294 68.0% 96,415 71.1%
Scantron 62,428 55.1% 61,434 57.0%

Total $ 381,848 48.5% $364,435 47.5%

(a)Percentage of sales for each segment is calculated using sales for that segment.

Consolidated gross pro fit of $381.8 million in 2003 incre a s e d
$17.4 million, or 4.8%, from $364.4 million in 2002 and
i n c reased as a percentage of sales from 47.5% in 2002 to
48.5% in 2003. The increase in consolidated gross profit was
the result of a favorable change in sales mix, cost management
and productivity improvement initiatives.

Printed Products gross pro fit decreased $7.5 million, or 3.6%,
in 2003 from 2002 but increased as a percentage of sales fro m
39.3% to 40.0% in 2003. The decrease in gross pro f i t
occurred primarily in domestic imprint check operations due to
plant consolidation costs and reduced volume, an unfavorable
change in mix in direct marketing activities and decreases in
sales of computer checks and related products partially offset
by increases in analytical services gross pro fit. The impro v e m e n t
in gross profit as a percentage of sales was due primarily to
e fficiencies realized from digital printing technology, pro c e s s
i m p rovements and a favorable change in price and product mix.
As stated earlier, Printed Products gross profit was unfavorably
impacted in 2003 by plant consolidation costs of $4.0 million,
which were incurred primarily during the fourth quarter of
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Income Taxes
The Company’s consolidated effective income tax rates were
35.5% and 38.5% for 2003 and 2002, re s p e c t i v e l y. The lower
e ffective income tax rate for 2003 resulted primarily from the
release of a valuation allowance related to the utilization of 
capital loss carry f o rw a rds, a reduction in the effective state tax
rate, a favorable renewal of an industrial revenue grant related to
the Company’s operations in Puerto Rico and a reduction of cer-
tain estimated permanent tax diff e rences. The effective tax rate 
for 2002 included favorable adjustments related to state tax 
c redits and adjustments related to prior years due to the re s o l u t i o n
of an IRS examination, which were partially offset by the impact
of an in-process research and development charge that was
nondeductible for tax purposes. See Note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for factors affecting the tax rate in each year.

Net Income and Earnings Per Share
The Company’s net income for 2003 was $56.0 million com-
pared to $52.4 million for 2002, an increase of $3.6 million, 
or 6.9%. Basic and diluted earnings per share were $2.02 and
$1.97, respectively, for 2003 compared to basic and diluted
earnings per share of $1.80 and $1.73, respectively, for 2002.
Net income for 2003 included pre-tax charges totaling $6.9
million related to the Printed Products reorganization, equivalent
to $0.15 per share on a diluted basis, and a $3.0 million pre-
tax gain on the sale of investments equivalent to $0.11 per
share on a diluted basis. Net income for 2002 included pre-tax
charges totaling $13.0 million, equivalent to $0.30 per share on
a diluted basis related to accelerated vesting of certain restrict-
ed stock grants, an in-process research and development charge
related to an acquisition, and the loss on the disposition of debt
and equity investments resulting from the sale of Netzee. Lower
weighted average shares outstanding in 2003 compared to 2002
also had a favorable impact on basic and diluted earnings per
share in 2003. The lower shares outstanding were primarily the
result of the Company’s share repurchase program (see Note 9
to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

FINANCIAL CONDITION, 
CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

Sources and Uses of Cash
Years Ended December 31,

(In thousands)                  2004 2003           2002

Net cash provided by
operating activities $ 120,371 $ 74,729 $140,346

Net cash used for
investing activities (51,043) (30,515) (124,533)

Net cash used for
financing activities (68,639) (54,907) (6,691)

The Company has historically generated positive cash flo w s
f rom its operations and continually evaluates uses of such cash
flows to strengthen shareholder value through a combination of
i n t e rnal development, acquisitions, re p u rchases of stock, dividend

amortization expense for the Company’s financial and human
resource systems which became fully amortized at the end of
2002 and early 2003, respectively, and to upgrade expenses
incurred in 2002 for the Company’s financial and human
resource systems. Stock-based compensation totaled $2.4 mil-
lion in 2003 compared to $9.9 million in 2002. The decrease
in stock-based compensation was due primarily to expenses
resulting from the accelerated vesting of certain restricted stock
grants in 2002 (see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements). These grants vested as a result of the Company’s
favorable stock price performance.

Gain on Disposal of Assets – net
In 2003, the Company realized a net gain of $1.2 million
primarily consisting of a $0.8 million gain in Printed Products on
the sale of a former check printing facility and a $0.2 million
gain in Corporate on the sale of certain property.

Amortization of Other Intangible Assets/Acquired In-Process
Research and Development Charge
A m o rtization of other intangible assets increased to $3.3 
m i l l i o n in 2003 compared to $2.6 million in 2002 due 
primarily to the impact of acquired operations partially off s e t
by the impact of certain intangible assets that were fully
a m o rtized during 2002. In 2002, the Company wrote off $3.0
million of a c q u i red in-process re s e a rch and development costs
related to the acquisition of INTERLINQ (see Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).

Consolidated Income from Operations
Consolidated income from operations decreased $4.4 million, or
4.7%, to $89.4 million for 2003 from $93.8 million for 2002
due primarily to Printed Products SG&A staffing reduction costs
of $2.9 million in 2003 and other increases in SG&A in 2003
discussed above, partially offset by the impact of an acquire d
in-process research and development charge in 2002.

Other Income (Expense)
Other Income (Expense) decreased by $5.9 million from an
e x p e n s e of $8.5 million for 2002 to an expense of $2.6 million
for 2003. The decrease was due primarily to gains on sales 
of investments of $3.0 million in 2003 (see Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements) and a loss of $1.8 million
in 2002 on the disposition of equity and debt investments 
in Netzee, Inc. (“Netzee”). Interest expense decreased $0.9 
million from 2002 primarily due to lower interest rates during
2003 compared with 2002, which was partially offset by the
impact of higher average borrowings.

Consolidated Income Before Income Taxes
Consolidated income before income taxes increased $1.5 mil-
lion, or 1.8%, to $86.8 million for 2003 from $85.3 million for
2002. The impact of investment gains in 2003 and investment
losses in 2002 more than offset the decrease in consolidated
income from operations in 2003.
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Facility may be used for general corporate purposes, including
acquisitions, and includes both direct borrowings and letters of
c redit. The Credit Facility is unsecured and the Company pre s e n t-
ly pays a commitment fee of 0.175% on the unused amount of
the Credit Facility. Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear inter-
est, at the Company’s option, based upon one of the following
indices (plus a margin as defined): the Federal Funds Rate, the
S u n Trust Bank Base Rate or LIBOR (as defined therein). The
C redit Facility has certain financial covenants including, among
other items, leverage, fixed charge coverage and minimum net
w o rth re q u i rements. The Credit Facility also has restrictions that
limit the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, 
grant security interests or sell its assets beyond certain amounts.

At December 31, 2004, the Credit Facility consisted of
$101.3 million in outstanding cash borrowings and $5.5 million
in outstanding letters of credit. At December 31, 2004, the
Company had $313.2 million of availability under its Cre d i t
F a c i l i t y. The average interest rate in effect on outstanding cash
b o rrowings at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was 3.30% and
2.94%, re s p e c t i v e l y.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had $9.2 million in 
cash and cash equivalents. The Company believes that its curre n t
cash position, funds from operations and the availability of funds
under its Credit Facility will be sufficient to meet anticipated
requirements for working capital, dividends, capital expenditures
and other corporate needs. Management is not aware of any 
condition that would materially alter this trend. 

The Company also believes that it possesses suff i c i e n t
unused debt capacity and access to equity capital markets to
pursue additional acquisition opportunities if funding beyond
that available under the Credit Facility were re q u i re d .

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table aggregates the Company’s contractual 
obligations and commitments with definitive payment term s ,
which will re q u i re significant cash outlays in the future. The com-
mitment amounts are as of December 31, 2004 (in millions):

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Less than More than

Obligations Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
Long-term debt $101.3 $ 5.0 $10.0 $ 86.3 $ –
Interest on 

long-term debt(a) 14.5 3.7 7.7 3.1 –
Customer agre e m e n t s 71.9 22.3 32.8 16.8 –
Operating leases      76.5 14.3 22.6 20.3 19.3
P u rchase obligations 3.9 3.9 – – –
Postretirement

benefit payments(b) 13.6 1.5 2.9 2.9 6.3
Other long-term

liabilities         10.2 0.5 1.1 1.2 7.4
Total $291.9 $ 51.2 $77.1 $ 130.6 $ 33.0

( a ) Assumes no additional borrowings under the Company’s $325.0 million revolving loan
will occur after December 31, 2004 and the interest rate in effect at December 31,
2004 will remain constant at 3.30% over the remaining term of the Credit Facility.

(b) Estimated through 2014.

payments and repayment of debt. Cash flows provided from oper-
ations in 2004 increased $45.6 million, or 61.1%, to $120.4
million from $74.7 million in 2003 due primarily to $27.1 mil-
lion of upfront contract payments made in 2004 compared with
$44.0 million of such payments in 2003, non-cash asset impair-
ment charges of $10.3 million in 2004, a $7.7 million incre a s e
in net income adjusted for depreciation and amortization, a $2.8
million increase in stock-based compensation and associated tax
b e n e fits and changes in deferred income taxes. The primary uses
of cash in 2004 were for repurchases of treasury stock ($45.3
million), acquisitions ($30.2 million), capital expenditures
($28.9 million), net reduction of borrowed amounts ($25.8 
million) and dividend payments to shareholders ($12.5 million).

P u rchases of pro p e rt y, plant and equipment totaled $28.9 
million in 2004, an increase of $0.8 million, compared to $28.1
million in 2003 and were primarily for customer care infrastru c-
t u re initiatives. The Company’s customer care infrastru c t u re ini-
tiatives for the Printed Products segment focused on impro v i n g
systems that support sales, marketing and customer service to
e n s u re exceptional service and added functionality for the
C o m p a n y ’s call centers. In September 2004, the Company con-
cluded that upgrading certain existing customer care systems
would be more economical than continued development of por-
tions of certain new customer care systems. The decision to ter-
minate development eff o rts re q u i red a non-cash, pre-tax impair-
ment charge of $7.9 million. The Company will continue with
development and implementation of the remaining portions of the
customer care infrastru c t u re project for its Printed Products seg-
ment. Total expenditures for the project over the four-year period
ended in 2004 were $57.8 million including the $7.9 million
i m p a i rment charge, a decrease from the previously disclosed
range of $65 to $70 million for the same period. Additionally,
the Company anticipates it will spend approximately $4 million,
primarily in 2005, to complete the remaining new systems, and
it will spend approximately $14 to $18 million over the 2005-
2007 period to enhance certain existing systems and infrastru c-
t u re to replace the portions of the project being discontinued.

In January 2003, the Board authorized the re p u rchase of
3,000,000 shares. Shares purchased under this program may 
be held in tre a s u ry, used for acquisitions, used to fund the
C o m p a n y ’s stock benefit and compensation plans or for other
corporate purposes. In 2004, the Company purchased a total of
1,399,300 shares under this program at a cost of $45.3 million
or an average cost of $32.37 per share. At December 31, 2004,
a total of 1,821,278 shares had been purchased at an average
cost of $31.21 per share and 1,178,722 shares were available
for re p u rchase under the program authorized in January 2003.

In Febru a ry 2004, the Company amended its credit facility
(the “Credit Facility”) with a syndicate of banks increasing the
amount from $325.0 million to $425.0 million. The Cre d i t
Facility is comprised of a $100.0 million term loan and a
$325.0 million revolving loan, both of which mature in 2009.
The term loan re q u i res annual repayments of $5.0 million. 
As a result, the Credit Facility will decrease by $5.0 million per
annum to $400.0 million at the 2009 maturity date. The Cre d i t
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agreement to acquire Cincinnati-based Intrieve, Incorporated
(“Intrieve”). The Company expects to consummate the acquisi-
tion in April 2005, subject to approval by Intrieve’s sharehold-
ers and certain regulatory agencies. Intrieve is a provider of
technology for financial institutions including service bure a u
operations that deliver core processing for thrifts and community
banks, comprehensive item processing, and electronic banking
and payments processing. In-house solutions include software
for fin a ncial accounting and software that allows financial insti-
tutions to print their own laser checks and other MICR docu-
ments. Also included in the transaction is a data-center opera-
tion providing co-location, hosting, managed data services and
hot-site backup. The acquisition of Intrieve will represent an
expansion of the Company’s existing outsourced product and
service offerings. Intrieve’s core processing data-center, full
service item processing facility and electronic banking and 
payment processing service will support Software & Services’
strategy of offering clients integrated end-to-end solutions.

2005 OUTLOOK
Net income for 2005 is expected to be higher than net income
for 2004 with all three segments expected to show growth in
sales and income before income taxes in 2005. 

Segment income for Printed Products is expected to impro v e
for the year as a result of a full year of benefits from cost
reductions related to its re o rganization that was completed in
the third quarter of 2004. In addition, unit volume is expected
to be higher in 2005 as a result of the implementation of new
business in late 2004.

S o f t w a re & Services segment income is expected to improve 
as a result of the full-year impact of three acquisitions in 2004 as
well as the impact of integrating them with existing products and
s e rvices. Cost reduction initiatives implemented during 
2004 are also expected to impact segment income favorably.

The Scantron segment is expected to continue its growth 
of sales in traditional products and services. Increased sales 
of existing technology products and the introduction of new
products are also expected to provide growth in 2005.

The Company believes cash flow will remain strong in all
business units in 2005. The Company currently estimates that
capital expenditures will be in the range of $25 million to $28
million. The Company believes upfront contract payments in
2005 will be made at a higher level than 2004, but less than
2003 with most of the payments occurring in the first quarter
based on commitments in place at the beginning of the year.
The Company currently expects depreciation and amortization
will total approximately $80 million in 2005, an increase of
about $8 million from 2004, primarily due to the amortization
of upfront contract payments. The Company expects its 
effective tax rate will be approximately 38% in 2005. 

RISK FACTORS AND CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS
When used in this re p o rt and in subsequent filings by the
Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission, in 
the Company’s press releases and in written or oral statements 

The Company’s long-term debt obligations are described in
Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company
has contracts with certain customers that contain provisions 
that call for future payments to the customers. These payments
are amortized as a reduction of sales over the life of the related
contract and are generally refundable from the customer on a
pro-rata basis if the contract is terminated. The Company’s
operating lease obligations are described in Note 14 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company has obliga-
tions, under contracts and purchase orders, to purchase goods
or services, which are not recorded as obligations in the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements until contract
terms take effect. The Company’s other long-term liabilities 
obligations are primarily for unfunded deferred compensation
contracts with certain current and former officers.

The Company has a nonqualified deferred compensation plan
for eligible employees which is accounted for as a rabbi trust 
(see Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). 
At December 31, 2004, the Company had a noncurrent liability
of $5.5 million related to this plan. This liability has not been
included in the above table because payment schedules are 
not determinable until a plan participant leaves the Company.
Scheduled payments under this plan are currently not signific a n t .

The Company has postretirement benefit plans, which are
described in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
At December 31, 2004, the Company’s accrued postretirement
costs totaled $13.9 million. Because the determination of 
this amount is affected by changes in plan demographics and
assumptions, it does not represent expected liquidity needs.
Estimated funding for the plan through 2014 has been included
in the contractual obligations and commitments table.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had a net noncurrent
deferred tax liability of $4.7 million. Deferred income tax 
liabilities are temporary differences between financial statement
and tax bases of assets and liabilities and do not directly relate
to the amount of income taxes to be paid in future periods.
T h e re f o re these liabilities have not been included in the 
contractual obligations and commitments table.

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
As of December 31, 2004, the Company’s accumulated other
comprehensive loss was $0.2 million and consisted primarily 
of foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized 
loss on investments.

ACQUISITIONS
All acquisitions in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were paid for with cash
provided from operating activities and proceeds from the Com-
pany’s credit facility. The acquisitions were accounted for using
the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly, the results 
of operations of the acquired businesses have been included in
the Company’s operations since the particular acquisition clos-
ing dates (see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). 

On February 1, 2005, the Company announced plans to
expand its outsourcing services with the signing of a definitive
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Several factors outside of the Company’s control could
a ffect results in the Scantron segment. These include the rate
of adoption of new electronic data collection solutions and 
testing and assessment methods, which could negatively
impact forms, scanner sales, software and related service 
revenue. The Company continues to develop products and
s e rvices that it believes offer state-of-the-art electronic data
collection and testing and assessment solutions. However, 
variables exist in the development of new testing methods 
and technologies, including the timing and costs of the devel-
opment eff o rt, product perf o rmance, functionality, market
acceptance, adoption rates, competition and the funding of
education at the federal, state and local levels, all of which
could have an impact on the Company’s business.

As a matter of due course, the Company and its subsidiaries
are subject to various federal and state tax examinations. The
Company believes that it is in compliance with the various 
federal and state tax regulations imposed and such re t u rns 
and re p o rts filed with respect to such tax regulations are 
materially correct. The results of these various federal and state
tax examinations could produce both favorable and unfavorable
adjustments to the Company’s total tax expense either currently
or on a deferred basis. At such time when a favorable or 
unfavorable adjustment is known, the effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements is recorded.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES 
ABOUT MARKET RISK
All financial instruments, except for assets held in a trust of $5.5
million, are held for purposes other than trading. The Company 
is exposed primarily to market risks related to interest rates.

Interest Rate Risk
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its variable
rate debt. In order to manage its exposure to fluctuations in
i n t e rest rates, the Company from time to time has entered into
i n t e rest rate swap agreements, which allow it to raise funds at
floating rates and effectively swap them into fixed rates. As of
December 31, 2004, there were no interest rate swap agre e-
ments in effect. These derivative financial instruments are
viewed as risk management tools and, when used, are entere d
into for hedging purposes only. The Company does not use
derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative pur-
poses. At December 31, 2004, the Company had outstanding
variable rate debt of $101.3 million. The Company believes
that its interest rate risk at December 31, 2004 was minimal.
The impact on annual results of operations of a hypothetical
one-point interest rate change on the outstanding debt as of
December 31, 2004 would be approximately $0.6 million.

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding
the impact of recent accounting pronouncements on the
Company’s financial condition and results of operations.

made by authorized re p resentatives of the Company, the 
w o rds or phrases “ b e l i e v e , ” “should re s u l t , ” “ a re expected to,”
“will continue,”“is anticipated,” “ e s t i m a t e , ” “ p ro j e c t ” or 
similar expressions are intended to identify “forw a rd - l o o k i n g
statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are neces-
sarily subject to certain risks and uncertainties, including, but
not limited to, those discussed below that could cause actual
results to differ materially from the Company’s historical 
experience and its present expectations or projections. Caution
should be taken not to place undue reliance on any such 
f o rw a rd-looking statements, which speak only as of the date
such statements are made and which may or may not be
based on historical experiences and/or trends which may or
may not continue in the future. The Company does not 
u n d e rtake and specifically declines any obligation to update
any forw a rd-looking statements to reflect events or circ u m-
stances occurring after the date of such statements or to
reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Various factors may affect the Company’s financial perf o rm-
ance, including, but not limited to, those factors discussed 
below which could cause the Company’s actual results for future
periods to differ from any opinions, statements or pro j e c t i o n s
e x p ressed with respect thereto. Such diff e rences could be materi-
al and adverse. Many variables will impact the ability to achieve
sales levels, improve service quality, achieve production eff i c i e n-
cies and reduce expenses in Printed Products. These include, 
but are not limited to, the successful implementation of major
new accounts and the continuing upgrade of customer care 
i n f r a s t ru c t u re and systems used in the Company’s manufacturing,
sales, marketing, customer service and call center operations.

Several factors outside the Company’s control could nega-
tively impact check revenues. These include the continuing
expansion of alternative payment systems such as credit cards,
debit cards and other forms of electronic commerce or on-line
payment systems. Check revenues may continue to be adversely
affected by continued consolidation of financial institutions,
competitive check pricing including significant upfront contract
incentive payments, and the impact of governmental laws and
regulations. There can be no assurances that the Company will
not lose significant customers or that any such losses could be
offset by the addition of new customers.

While the Company believes growth opportunities exist in the
Software & Services segment, there can be no assurances that
the Company will achieve its revenue or earnings growth targets.
The Company believes there are many risk factors inherent in
its Software & Services business, including but not limited to
the retention of employee talent and customers. Revenues may
continue to be adversely affected by continued consolidation of
financial institutions. Also, variables exist in the development of
new Software & Services products, including the timing and
costs of the development effort, product performance, function-
ality, product acceptance, competition, the Company’s ability to
integrate acquired companies, and general changes in economic
conditions or U.S. financial markets.
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C O N S O L I D ATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2004 2003

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,214 $ 8,525
Accounts receivable from customers, less allowance

for doubtful accounts of $2,196 and $1,902 70,989 60,338
Inventories:

Raw materials 14,055 13,028
Work in process 956 920
Finished goods 1,973 1,569

Deferred income taxes 8,393 32,517
Income taxes receivable 14,608 37
Property held for sale 3,438 2,626
Prepaid expenses 11,134 11,096
Other 4,693 4,690
Total current assets 139,453 135,346

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS: 
Investments 5,651 208
Goodwill – net  233,987 217,749
Intangible assets – net  17,168 16,835
Upfront contract payments – net 53,650 52,933
Other   21,645 19,473
Total investments and other assets  332,101 307,198

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:
Land 2,245 3,121  
Buildings and improvements  36,327 45,654 
Machinery and equipment  256,791 271,596 
Furniture and fixtures 16,633 17,147
Leasehold improvements   11,995 12,498
Additions in progress  6,534 6,156
Total property, plant and equipment  330,525 356,172
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 228,302 231,739
Property, plant and equipment – net   102,223 124,433

TOTAL   $ 573,777 $ 566,977
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December 31,
2004 2003

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:                                               
Accounts payable $ 28,290 $ 26,030 
Deferred revenues 61,648 57,745 
Current maturities of long-term debt 5,000 5,099
Accrued liabilities: 

Salaries, wages and employee benefits 33,475 30,376 
Taxes 15,028 17,669 
Customer incentives 9,422 5,854
Other 16,706 18,649 

Total current liabilities 169,569 161,422 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:                                                        
Long-term debt 96,300 122,059
Deferred income taxes 4,692 5,087
Other 28,625 22,966
Total long-term liabilities 129,617 150,112
Total liabilities 299,186 311,534

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (see Note 14)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Preferred stock, authorized 500,000 shares of $1.00 par value, none issued – –
Common stock, authorized 144,000,000 shares of $1.00 par value, 

37,907,497 shares issued 37,907 37,907
Additional paid-in capital 11,191 7,788
Retained earnings 486,009 448,688
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments (153) (454)
Unrealized losses on investments – net (31) (8)
Fair value of cash flow hedging instruments – net – (273)

Unamortized restricted stock awards (13,380) (5,408)
521,543 488,240

Less 10,629,800 and 10,413,501 shares in treasury, at cost 246,952 232,797
Total shareholders’ equity 274,591 255,443

TOTAL $ 573,777 $ 566,977 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

C O N S O L I D ATED BALANCE SHEETS ( c o n t i n u e d )
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C O N S O L I D ATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Sales:
Product sales $ 640,819 $ 640,872 $ 652,543 
Service sales 157,668 145,796 115,264 
Total sales 798,487 786,668 767,807   
Cost of sales:
Cost of products sold 351,384 355,397 363,557   
Cost of services sold 56,120 49,423 39,815   
Total cost of sales 407,504 404,820 403,372   
Gross Profit 390,983 381,848 364,435   

Selling, general and administrative expenses 289,016 290,327 265,244   
Asset impairment charges 10,329 – –
Gain on disposal of assets – net (3,387) (1,169) (170)  
Amortization of other intangible assets 3,773 3,292 2,594   
Acquired in-process research and development charge – – 3,000   
Income From Operations 91,252 89,398 93,767   

Other Income (Expense):
Interest expense (4,117) (5,711) (6,608) 
Gain (loss) on sale of investments – net 132 2,977 (1,785)  
Other – net 635 105 (119) 
Total (3,350) (2,629) (8,512) 

Income Before Income Taxes 87,902 86,769 85,255   
Income taxes 32,787 30,803 32,823   
Net Income $ 55,115 $ 55,966 $ 52,432   

Earnings Per Common Share:
Basic $ 2.02 $ 2.02 $ 1.80   
Diluted $ 1.96 $ 1.97 $ 1.73   

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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C O N S O L I D ATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

(In thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 55,115 $ 55,966 $ 52,432 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to 

net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 36,004 39,534 36,853 
Amortization of upfront contract payments 26,392 14,370 11,840 
Other amortization 9,383 9,279 7,932 
Asset impairment charges 10,329 – –
Gain on disposal of assets – net (3,387) (1,169) (170)
Stock-based compensation 5,633 2,351 9,895 
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation 1,356 1,883 3,119 
Acquired in-process research and development charge – – 3,000 
(Gain) loss on sale of investments – net (132) (2,977) 1,785 
Deferred income taxes 25,585 (2,251) 10,578 
Other – net 2,062 (657) (163)
Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects of businesses acquired:  

Accounts receivable (7,358) 229 10,629 
Income taxes receivable (15,574) (37) –
Inventories and other current assets (31) (2,470) 7,335
Deferred revenues (3,804) 1,254 5,336
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5,907 3,446 (12,496)
Upfront contract payments (27,109) (44,022) (7,559)

Net cash provided by operating activities 120,371 74,729 140,346 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (28,943) (28,072) (32,090)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 8,300 3,119 1,926
Proceeds from sale of investments 134 4,985 –
Payments for acquisition of businesses – net of cash acquired (30,160) (11,303) (94,485)
Note receivable – 1,002 93
Other – net (374) (246) 23
Net cash (used in) investing activities (51,043) (30,515) (124,533)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Credit facility borrowings 248,544 278,243 250,112 
Credit facility payments (274,302) (295,186) (230,112)
Repayment of long-term debt – (88) (125)
Repurchases of stock (45,295) (39,107) (27,707)
Issuance of treasury stock 15,990 10,714 11,439 
Dividends paid (12,506) (9,836) (8,777)
Debt issuance costs paid (1,695) (18) (18)
Other – net 625 371 (1,503)
Net cash (used in) financing activities (68,639) (54,907) (6,691) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 689 (10,693) 9,122 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8,525 19,218 10,096 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 9,214 $ 8,525 $ 19,218 

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 3,882 $ 5,607 $ 5,767 
Income taxes paid 20,974 32,485 19,808 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)   

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2001 $ 37,907 $ – $ 372,164 $ 3,710 $ (203,539) $ (8,218) $ 202,024
Net income 52,432 52,432
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,025) (1,025)
U n realized losses on investments, net of $334 in tax benefit s (3,182) (3,182)
Reclassification for investment gain and write-down 

included in net income, net of $8 in tax benefits 158 158
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedging instruments

net of $6 in tax provision 9 9
Comprehensive income 48,392
Cash dividends, $0.30 per share (8,777) (8,777)
Repurchase of 1,307,300 shares of stock (27,707) (27,707)
Issuance of 741,026 shares of treasury stock

under stock compensation plans (138) (5,091) 23,484 (6,816) 11,439
Other 5,383 (1,618) (4,391) 9,249 8,623

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2002 37,907 5,245 409,110 (330) (212,153) (5,785) 233,994
Net income 55,966   55,966
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments 376  376
U n realized gain on investments, net of $22 in tax benefit s 980  980
Reclassification for investment gains included in net 

income, net of $155 in tax provision (2,823) (2,823)
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedging instruments

net of $679 in tax provision  1,062  1,062
Comprehensive income        55,561
Cash dividends, $0.35 per share (9,836) (9,836)
Repurchase of 1,569,532 shares of stock     (39,107)  (39,107)
Issuance of 700,095 shares of treasury stock 

under stock compensation plans  (88) (6,512) 18,580   (1,266) 10,714
Other  2,631 (40) (117)    1,643 4,117

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2003 37,907 7,788 448,688 (735) (232,797) (5,408) 255,443
Net income 55,115 55,115
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments 301 301
Unrealized losses on investments, net of $14 in tax benefits (23) (23)
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedging instruments

net of $175 in tax provision 273 273
Comprehensive income 55,666
Cash dividends, $0.45 per share (12,506) (12,506)
Repurchase of 1,399,300 shares of stock (45,295) (45,295)
Issuance of 1,183,001 shares of treasury stock

under stock compensation plans 1,100 (5,224) 32,837 (12,723) 15,990
Other 2,303 (64) (1,697) 4,751 5,293
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2004 $37,907 $11,191 $486,009 $ (184) $(246,952) $(13,380) $274,591

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Company considers several factors in determining whether 
a decline is temporary including the length of time market value
has been below cost, the magnitude of the decline, financial
prospects of the business and the Company’s intention to hold
the security. If a decline in market value of an investment is
determined to be other than temporary, the carrying amount is
written down and included in current earnings. In June 2002,
the Company determined that the decline in market value of
Netzee, Inc. (“Netzee”) was other than temporary. Accordingly,
the Company’s investment in Netzee was written down resulting
in a recognized loss of $0.3 million in 2002. In December
2002, the Company realized a $1.8 million loss on the disposi-
tion of debt and equity investments resulting from the sale of
Netzee. In 2004 and 2003, the Company sold its investments
in U.S. corporate securities and recorded a gain before income
taxes of $0.1 million and $3.0 million, respectively.

Trading securities consist of investment assets, primarily
mutual fund investments, of a nonqualified deferred compensa-
tion plan for eligible employees. Participants in this plan are
able to direct contributions to a number of diversified assets
and settle in cash. This plan is being accounted for under EITF
97-14, “Accounting for Deferred Compensation Arrangements
Where Amounts Earned Are Held in a Rabbi Trust and
Invested.” As trading securities, the changes in the fair value
are recognized as a charge or credit in other income. A related
offsetting deferred compensation obligation is classified as a
noncurrent liability and adjusted, with a corresponding charge
or credit to compensation cost, to reflect changes in the fair
value of the amount owed to the participants. As of December
31, 2004, the Company recorded the investments held by the
rabbi trust totaling $5.5 million within noncurrent assets on
the Company’s balance sheet with the corresponding liability
being reflected as long-term. Income (dividends and interest)
from investments in the plan and realized and unrealized gains
and losses are recorded in Other Income with a corresponding,
offsetting amount recorded in Income from Operations repre-
senting an adjustment of compensation expense with no impact
on net income. For 2004, the investment income and corre-
sponding compensation cost was $0.5 million.

The following is a summary of security investments at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands):

Available-for-sale Trading Securities

Cost Market Cost Market

2004
Rabbi trust $ – $ – $4,814 $5,482
Other equity               220 169 – –
Total 220 169 4,814 5,482

2003
Other equity 222 208 – –
Total $ 222 $ 208 $ – $ –

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of John H. Harland Company and its majority-owned
subsidiaries (the “Company”). Intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments 
with a maturity, when purchased, of three months or less to 
be cash equivalents.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost of
inventory for checks and related forms is determined by average
costing. Cost of scannable forms and hardware component 
parts inventories is determined by the first-in, first-out method.
Cost of data entry terminals is determined by the specific
identification method.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Assets held for disposal are carried at the lower of carrying
amount or fair value, less estimated cost to sell such assets.
The Company reviews long-lived assets and certain intangible
assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be 
recoverable, and any impairment losses are reported in the 
period in which the impairment criteria are met based on the
fair value of the asset.

Investments
The Company classifies its investments as either available-for-
sale securities or trading securities. Available-for-sale securities
consist of U.S. corporate securities and other equity interests
which are stated at market value, with unrealized gains and
losses on such investments reflected, net of tax, as other com-
prehensive income in shareholders’ equity. Realized gains and
losses on investments are included in earnings and are derived
using the specific identification method. If the market value of
an investment declines below its cost, the Company evaluates
whether the decline is temporary or other than temporary.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STAT E M E N T S
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Property, Plant and Equipment
P ro p e rt y, plant and equipment are carried at cost. Depre c i a t i o n
of buildings is computed primarily by the declining balance
method. Depreciation of equipment, furn i t u re and fix t u res is 
calculated by the straight-line or sum-of-the-years digits method.
Leasehold improvements are amortized by the straight-line
method over the life of the lease or the life of the pro p e rt y,
whichever is short e r. Accelerated methods are used for income
tax purposes for all pro p e rty where allowed. The Company capi-
talizes the qualifying costs of software developed or obtained for
i n t e rnal use. Depreciation is computed for internal use software
by using the straight-line method over three to seven years.

Depreciation expense was $36.0 million, $39.5 million and
$36.9 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Self-Insurance
The Company is primarily self-insured for workers’ compensa-
tion and group medical costs. Provisions for losses expected
under these programs are recorded based on the Company’s
estimates of the aggregate liabilities for the claims incurred.
Payments for claims beyond one year have been discounted. 
As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the combined liabilities
for workers compensation and group medical liability were
$9.1 million and $9.6 million, respectively.

Risk Management Contracts
The Company recognizes all derivatives at fair value as either
assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and
changes in the fair values of such instruments are recognized
currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria
are met. If specific hedge accounting criteria are met, the
Company recognizes the changes in fair value of these instru-
ments in other comprehensive income. 

The Company has used derivative financial instruments to
manage interest rate risk. On the date the interest rate deriva-
tive contract is entered into, the Company designates the
derivative as either a fair value hedge or a cash flow hedge.
The Company formally documents the relationship between
hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as its risk-
management objectives and strategy for undertaking various
hedge transactions. The Company links all hedges that are
designated as fair value hedges to specific assets or liabilities
on the balance sheet or to specific firm commitments. The
Company links all hedges that are designated as cash flow
hedges to forecasted transactions or to liabilities on the bal-
ance sheet. The Company also assesses, both at the inception
of the hedge and on an on-going basis, whether the derivatives
that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in
o ffsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged
items. If an existing derivative were to become not highly
e ffective as a hedge, the Company would discontinue hedge
accounting pro s p e c t i v e l y. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition costs over the 
fair value of net assets of businesses acquired. The Company
reviews goodwill for impairment annually in accordance with the
provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”
(“SFAS 142”). No impairment of goodwill was identified during
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Other intangible assets consist primarily of purchased cus-
tomer lists, developed technology, content and trademarks that
w e re acquired in business combinations. Other intangible assets
a re generally amortized on a straight-line basis over periods rang-
ing from four to fifteen years. Amortization periods of other intan-
gible assets are periodically reviewed to determine whether events
or circumstances warrant revision to estimated useful lives.
C a rrying values of other intangible assets are periodically re v i e w e d
to assess recoverability based on expectations of undiscounted
cash flows and operating income for each related business unit.

Upfront Contract Payments
Certain contracts with the Company’s customers involve upfront
payments to the customer. These payments are capitalized and
amortized as a reduction of sales over the life of the related
contract and are generally refundable from the customer if the 
contract is canceled prior to the contract termination date. At
December 31, 2004, $45.8 million of these unamortized pay-
ments were refundable and $7.9 million were nonrefundable.

Software and Other Development Costs
The Company expenses research and development costs, 
including expenditures related to development of software prod-
ucts that do not qualify for capitalization. Research and devel-
opment costs, which are primarily costs incurred related to the
development of software, totaled $21.9 million, $22.6 million
and $14.5 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Software development costs incurred prior to the establish-
ment of technological feasibility are expensed as incurred.
Software development costs incurred after the technological 
feasibility of the subject software product has been established
and prior to its availability for sale are capitalized in accordance
with FASB Statement No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed.”
Capitalized software development costs are amortized on a 
product-by-product basis using the estimated economic life of
the product on a straight-line basis over three to six years.
Unamortized software development costs in excess of estimated
future net revenues from a particular product are written down
to their estimated net realizable value.

The Company accounts for costs to develop or obtain computer
s o f t w a re for internal use in accordance with Accounting Standard s
Executive Committee Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting 
for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for
I n t e rnal Use,” which re q u i res certain costs to be capitalized.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ( c o n t i n u e d )
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For software that is installed and integrated by the Company
or customer, revenue is recognized upon shipment assuming
functionality has already been proven and there are no signifi-
cant customizations that would cause a substantial acceptance
risk. For software that is installed, integrated and customized 
by the Company, revenue is recognized on a percentage-of-
completion basis as the services are performed. Estimates of
efforts to complete a project are used in the percentage-of-
completion calculation. Due to the uncertainties inherent in
these estimates, actual results could differ from those estimates.

The contractual terms of software sales do not provide for
product returns or allowances. However, on occasion the
Company may allow for returns or allowances primarily in the
case of a new product release. Provisions for estimated returns
and sales allowances are established by the Company concur-
rently with the recognition of revenue and are based on a variety
of factors including actual return and sales allowance history
and projected economic conditions. 

Service revenues are comprised of revenues derived from
software maintenance agreements, field maintenance services,
core processing service bureau deliverables, analytical services,
consulting services and training services.

Accrued Customer Incentives
The Printed Products segment has contractual agreements with
many of its customers that provide incentives for rebates or 
discounts on certain products. Such rebates and discounts are
recorded as reductions to revenue and as accrued liabilities.
Some agreements may provide for the purchase of certain 
products not covered by that agreement to be purchased at a
discount by the customer and the cost of such products is
recorded as cost of goods sold over the term of the agreement
and as an accrued liability.

Shipping and Handling
Revenue received from shipping and handling fees is reflected
in net sales. Costs related to shipping and handling are included
in cost of goods sold.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion No.
25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”)
and related interpretations in accounting for its stock-based
compensation plans and applies the disclosure-only provisions
of FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), as amended by FASB Statement
No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition
and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148”).

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company re c o rded 
the changes in values related to cash flow hedges in other
c o m p rehensive income and such changes were not material. 
In 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company did not have any
hedging instruments that were designated as fair value hedges.

Translation of Foreign Currencies
Financial statement accounts that are maintained in foreign
currencies are translated into U.S. dollars. Assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at end-of-peri-
od exchange rates. Results of operations denominated in foreign
currencies are translated using average exchange rates for the
year. The resulting currency translation adjustments are report-
ed in accumulated other comprehensive income. Realized 
currency exchange gains and losses resulting from transactions
are included in earnings as incurred and were not significant in
2004, 2003 and 2002. The Company considers undistributed
earnings of foreign subsidiaries to be permanently invested. 
As a result, no income taxes have been provided on these
undistributed earnings or on the foreign currency translation
adjustments recorded as a part of other comprehensive income.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes product and services revenue when
persuasive evidence of a noncancelable arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred and/or services have been rendered, the
price is fixed or determinable, collectibility is reasonably
assured, legal title and economic risk is transferred to the 
customer and when an economic exchange has taken place.

For multiple-element software arrangements, total revenue is
allocated to each element based on the fair value method or the
residual method when applicable. Under the fair value method,
the total revenue is allocated among the elements based upon
the relative fair value of each element as determined through
vendor-specific objective evidence. Under the residual method,
the fair value of the undelivered maintenance, training and
other service elements, as determined based on vendor-specific
objective evidence, is deferred and the remaining (residual)
arrangement is recognized as revenue at the time of delivery.
Maintenance fees are deferred and recognized ratably over the
maintenance period, which is usually twelve months. Training
revenue is recognized as the services are performed.

Revenue from licensing of software under usage-based 
contracts is recognized ratably over the term of the agreement
or on an actual usage basis. Revenue from licensing of software
under limited term license agreements is recognized ratably
over the term of the agreement.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ( c o n t i n u e d )
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Earnings Per Common Share
Earnings per common share for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002 have been computed under the provi-
sions of FASB Statement No. 128, “Earnings Per Share.” 
The computation of basic and diluted earnings per share was 
as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

2004 2003      2002

Computation of basic earnings 
per common share:

Numerator
Net income $55,115 $55,966 $52,432

Denominator
Weighted average 

shares outstanding 27,129 27,624 29,026
Weighted average deferred 

shares outstanding under 
non-employee directors 
compensation plan 140 116 95 

Weighted average shares 
outstanding – basic 27,269 27,740 29,121

Earnings per share – basic $ 2.02 $ 2.02 $ 1.80 

Computation of diluted earnings 
per common share:

Numerator
Net income $55,115 $55,966 $52,432

Denominator
Weighted average shares 

outstanding – basic 27,269 27,740 29,121 
Dilutive effect of stock

options and restricted stock 815 671 1,123 
Weighted average shares 

outstanding – diluted 28,084 28,411 30,244 
Earnings per share – diluted $ 1.96 $ 1.97 $ 1.73 

The potentially dilutive common shares relate to options 
and restricted stock granted under stock compensation plans.
Potentially dilutive common shares that were not included in
the calculation of diluted earnings per share for 2004, 2003
and 2002 because they were anti-dilutive were 10,457,
77,530, and 57,000, respectively.

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation
expense for restricted stock granted to employees and also 
for the deferred compensation plan for non-employee dire c-
tors. The Company uses the straight-line method to amort i z e
u n e a rned compensation expense over the maximum vesting
period for restricted stock awards that vest at a single point 
in time or vest over time. 

No stock-based compensation cost is re flected in net
income for options or purchases under the employee stock 
p u rchase plan. Had compensation cost for options granted
under the Company’s stock-based compensation plans and 
p u rchases under the employee stock purchase plan been 
d e t e rmined based on the fair value at the grant dates consis-
tent with SFAS 123, the Company’s net income and earn i n g s
per share would have changed to the pro forma amounts listed
below (in thousands, except per share amounts):

2004 2003 2002

Net income:
As reported $ 55,115 $ 55,966 $ 52,432
Add: stock-based 

compensation expense 
included in reported 
net income, net of tax 3,436 1,434 6,036

Deduct: stock-based 
compensation expense 
determined under the fair 
value based method for 
all awards, net of tax (7,405) (5,809) (11,117) 

Pro forma net income $ 51,146 $ 51,591 $ 47,351 

Earnings per common share:
As reported 

Basic $ 2.02 $ 2.02 $ 1.80 
Diluted $ 1.96 $ 1.97 $ 1.73 

Pro forma
Basic $ 1.88 $ 1.86 $ 1.63 
Diluted $ 1.83 $ 1.82 $ 1.57 

See Note 10 for more information regarding the Company’s
stock compensation plans and the assumptions used to prepare
the pro forma information presented above.
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In December 2004, the FASB released its revised standard ,
FASB Statement No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment” (“SFA S
123R”). SFAS 123R supersedes APB 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees” and its related implementation
guidance. SFAS 123R re q u i res that a public entity measure
the cost of equity based service awards based on the grant-
date fair value of the award. Such cost will be recognized over
the period during which an employee is re q u i red to pro v i d e
s e rvice in exchange for the award. No compensation cost is
recognized for equity instruments for which employees do not
render the requisite service. A public entity will initially meas-
u re the cost of liability based service awards based on its cur-
rent fair value; the fair value of that award will be re m e a s u re d
subsequently at each re p o rting date through the settlement
date. Changes in fair value during the requisite service period
will be recognized as compensation cost over that period.
Adoption of SFAS 123R is re q u i red for the first interim or
annual re p o rting period beginning after June 15, 2005. The
Company is evaluating SFAS 123R to determine whether to
adopt the statement using the modified prospective applica-
tion or the modified re t rospective application and believes that
the pro forma information provided under the caption “Stock-
Based Compensation” within this Note 1 approximates the
impact the adoption will have on its results of operations for
the periods presented. The effects in future years will depend
on the level of awards granted.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP 109-1,
“Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for
Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production
Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004”. FSP 109-1 considers the effect of the new tax deduc-
tion for qualified production activities and requires it to be
accounted for as a special deduction and not as a tax rate
reduction under SFAS 109. Accounting for this as a special
deduction requires the Company to consider it in measuring
deferred income taxes and assessing whether a valuation
allowance is necessary. The Company adopted the provisions of
FSP 109-1 in December 2004. Adoption of FSP 109-1 did not
have a material effect on the Company’s financial position and
results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP 109-2, “Accounting
and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings R e p a t r i a t i o n
P rovision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004”. The
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (“the Act”) provides for a
special one-time tax deduction of 85 percent of certain fore i g n
e a rnings that are repatriated (as defined in the Act) in either 
an enterprise’s last tax year that began before the enactment 
date, or the first tax year that begins during the one-year period
beginning on the date of enactment. Due to insignificant earn-
ings from foreign subsidiaries that are not regularly repatriated
as well as the Company’s foreign tax credit position, the
Company believes the adoption of FSP 109-2 will not have a
material effect on its financial position and results of operations.

Income Taxes
The Company recognizes a liability or asset for the deferre d
tax consequences of temporary diff e rences between financial
statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. A valuation
allowance is provided for deferred tax assets for which 
realization cannot be considered likely.

New Accounting Standards
In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”)
regarding SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Post-
retirement Benefits Other Than Pensions.” FSP 106-2,
“Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization
Act of 2003” discusses the effect of the Medicare Prescription
Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act (“the Medicare Act”)
enacted on December 8, 2003. FSP 106-2 considers the effect
of the two new features introduced in the Medicare Act in
determining accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and
net periodic postretirement benefit cost, which may serve to
reduce a company’s postretirement benefit costs. 

The accumulated postretirement benefit obligations and net
periodic postretirement benefit cost included in the accompany-
ing consolidated financial statements and notes to consolidated
financial statements do not reflect the effects of the Medicare
Act on the postretirement health care benefit plan because the
Company has not completed its determination whether plan
benefits are at least actuarially equivalent to portions of the
Medicare Act. Management does not believe that the effects of
the Medicare Act will materially affect the Company’s postretire-
ment obligations or its future postretirement benefit expense.

In November 2004, the FASB issued FASB Statement No.
151, “Inventory Costs – An Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter
4” (“SFAS 151”) to clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility
expense, freight, handling costs and wasted materials should be
recognized as current-period charges and also re q u i res that allo-
cation of fixed production overheads to costs of conversion be
based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. The
Company will adopt the provisions of SFAS 151 on January 1,
2006 and does not believe that the adoption will have a material
e ffect on its financial position and results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Statement No.
153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of
APB No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Tr a n s a c t i o n s ”
( “ S FAS 153”). SFAS 153 amends APB Opinion No. 29 to
eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar
p roductive assets and replaces it with a general exception for
exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commerc i a l
substance. A nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance
if the future cash flows of the entity are expected to change
s i g n i ficantly as a result of the exchange. SFAS 153 is eff e c t i v e
for nonmonetary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods
beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not expect
the adoption of this standard will have a material effect on its
financial position and results of operations. 
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management system that allows financial institutions to fil e ,
distribute, archive, retrieve and automatically process docu-
ments and forms of all types and quantities. As part of the
a g reement, HFS has also licensed from Mitek Systems the
Q u i c k S t ro k e s® family of recognition toolkits and the QuickFX®

P ro form identification toolkit for use with CheckQuest and a
variety of other applications.

On April 30, 2004, HFS acquired certain assets and opera-
tions related to the electronic mortgage document business 
of Gre a t l a n dT M Corporation. Greatland Corporation is a pro v i d e r
of forms technology, compliance expertise and software 
compatible products used to meet the needs of businesses 
to convey re g u l a t o ry information. The Greatland mortgage 
document set is employed by many of the industry ’s leading
m o rtgage lenders and mortgage loan origination system tech-
nology providers. Gre a t l a n d ’s electronic mortgage document
p roducts allow HFS to build on its leadership position in 
compliance and mortgage solutions.

The combined purchase price of net assets acquired through
acquisitions in 2004 totaled approximately $30.2 million, net
of cash acquired. The fair value of assets and liabilities at the
acquisition dates consisted of goodwill of $21.5 million, of
which $5.4 million is expected to be deductible for tax purpos-
es, other intangible assets of $10.2 million (estimated weighted
average useful life of eight years), which included $6.3 million
in developed technology (estimated weighted average useful life
of nine years) and $3.9 million in customer lists (estimated
weighted average useful life of 13 years), other assets of $8.9
million and assumed liabilities of $10.4 million. The allocations 
of purchase price are subject to refinement as the Company 
finalizes the valuation of certain assets and liabilities. The pro
forma effects of the 2004 acquisitions were not material to the
Company’s results of operations.

2003 Acquisition
On June 3, 2003, HFS extended its core systems offering with
the acquisition of 100% of the equity of Premier Systems, Inc.
(“PSI”) for approximately $11.3 million, net of cash acquired.
The fair value of assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition
consisted of non-deductible goodwill of $9.7 million, customer
list of $6.0 million (estimated useful life of ten years), other
assets of $4.3 million and assumed liabilities of $8.7 million.
The pro forma effects on the results of operations for the acqui-
sition were not material. PSI was a provider of core processing
service bureau deliverables that were based on HFS’ widely
used ULTRADATA® System. With the addition of PSI, HFS now 
provides core processing applications and services to more
than 1,000 financial institutions. 

Reclassifications
During 2004, the Company re c l a s s i fied certain items in its 
consolidated income statements. The re c l a s s i fications aff e c t e d
the categories of Selling, General and Administrative expenses,
Asset Impairment Charges and Gain on Disposal of Assets – 
net. The change primarily re flects the re c l a s s i fication of Asset
I m p a i rment Charges and Gain on Disposal of Assets – net fro m
Selling, General and Administrative expenses to separate line
items. Financial data for all periods presented have been re c l a s-
s i fied for comparability. The re c l a s s i fications and transfers had
no impact on net income or shareholders’ equity as pre v i o u s l y
re p o rted. Certain other re c l a s s i fications have been made in the
2003 and 2002 financial statements and notes to fin a n c i a l
statements to conform to the 2004 classifications. 

2. ACQUISITIONS
All acquisitions in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were paid for with
cash provided from operating activities and proceeds from the
Company’s credit facility. The results of operations of each
acquired business have been included in the Company’s opera-
tions beginning as of the date of the particular acquisition.

2004 Acquisitions
On November 12, 2004, Harland Financial Solutions, Inc.
(“HFS”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired
London Bridge Phoenix Software Inc. (“Phoenix System”).
Phoenix System, an integrated core banking solution that oper-
ates in both the Windows® NT and Unix environments, features
open relational database choices and leverages the latest
Internet and network technology to optimize delivery channel
integration. Phoenix System is delivered in both in-house and
service bureau configurations. Also included in the acquisition
were the Phoenix Internet Banking System, also known as
IBANK, and the TradeWind international trade finance manage-
ment system. The acquisition provides HFS with a proven 
service bureau delivery option for banks and thrifts, which 
is a significant expansion to the breadth of current offerings.

On July 7, 2004, HFS acquired certain assets and opera-
tions including exclusive distribution and licensing rights 
related to the CheckQuest® item processing and Capture Q u e s t®

e l e c t ronic document management solutions from Mitek
Systems, Inc. Mitek Systems is a provider of recognition soft-
w a re-based fraud protection and document processing solutions
to banks and other businesses, and licenses its re c o g n i t i o n
engine toolkits to major software and hard w a re providers in 
the imaging and document processing industry. CheckQuest
p rovides financial institutions with a check imaging and item 
p rocessing solution that enables them to take advantage of 
the efficiencies off e red by the Federal Check Clearing for the
21st Century Act. CaptureQuest is an electronic document
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The combined purchase price for net assets acquired
through acquisitions in 2002 totaled $94.5 million, net of cash
acquired. The following table summarizes the estimated fair 
values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the
acquisition dates along with adjustments made (in thousands):

Weighted 
Average

Useful Life
Value in Years

Current assets $ 8,724
Property, plant and equipment 1,653
Goodwill 78,513
Intangible assets:

Developed technology 13,570 6
Customer lists 6,150 9
Acquired in-process

research and development 3,000 –
Trademarks 3,800 10
Content 2,300 10

Total intangible assets 28,820
Other assets 7,614

Total assets acquired 125,324
Current liabilities 24,872
Other liabilities 5,967

Total liabilities assumed 30,839
Net assets $ 94,485

The allocation of purchase price to intangible assets included
$3.0 million for acquired in-process re s e a rch and development
costs that were written off at the date of acquisition. Those
w r i t e - o ffs are disclosed separately in the statements of income.
The remaining $25.8 million of acquired intangible assets have
a weighted average useful life of approximately 7.7 years. 

The allocations of the purchase price to the assets and 
liabilities acquired in 2002 resulted in $78.5 million 
allocated to goodwill of which $26.4 million is expected to 
be deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill of $53.7 million 
and $24.8 million was assigned to the Company’s Software 
& Services and Scantron business segments, re s p e c t i v e l y. 

The following unaudited pro forma summary presents infor-
mation as if the acquisitions of the businesses acquired in
2002 occurred at the beginning of that year (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

(Unaudited)                                                2002    

Sales                                                  $798,663   
Net income                                             $ 48,805   

Earnings per common share:
Basic                                                $ 1.68   
Diluted                                              $ 1.61   

2002 Acquisitions
On October 15, 2002, HFS acquired 100% of the equity in
INTERLINQ Software Corporation (“INTERLINQ”) for approxi-
mately $23.0 million, net of cash acquired. INTERLINQ was a
leading provider of mortgage loan origination, production and
servicing solutions. As part of the acquisition, the Company
acquired in-process research and development costs totaling
$3.0 million, which were immediately expensed following the
acquisition. These costs represented the fair value of certain
acquired research and development projects that were deter-
mined to have not reached technological feasibility. As a result
of the acquisition, the Company believes HFS has a leadership
position in the mortgage loan origination market and good
growth opportunity in the mortgage servicing market.

On September 20, 2002, HFS extended its core systems
o ffering with the acquisition of certain assets and related 
liabilities of SPARAK Financial Systems, LLC (“SPARAK”) 
for approximately $31.9 million, net of cash acquired. The
acquisition agreement included a contingent purchase payment
not to exceed $2.0 million to be made in the event cert a i n
g rowth targets were achieved as defined in the agreement. As
of December 31, 2003, the end of the measurement period,
those growth targets were not achieved and as a result, no con-
tingent payments were made. SPARAK was a leading pro v i d e r
of integrated hard w a re and software systems for community
banks. The acquisition was completed to build on the HFS
leadership position in the financial institutions market and add
additional value for SPA R A K ’s existing customers.

On July 24, 2002, Scantron Corporation (“Scantron”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired 100% of the
equity in EdVISION Corporation (“EdVISION”) for approximately
$28.8 million, net of cash acquired. Related to the acquisition
of EdVISION, the Company entered into an incentive agreement
with certain individuals that included contingent payments to
be made in the event certain growth targets are achieved. In
June 2004, the incentive agreement was replaced by a grant of
28,000 shares of restricted stock that vest ratably in January
2005, July 2005 and January 2006. The market value of the
grant is being amortized ratably to expense over the vesting
period (see Note 10). EdVISION was a leading provider of cur-
riculum development and assessment tools for the education
i n d u s t ry. This acquisition expands Scantro n ’s ability to off e r
advanced testing and assessment tools in the education market.

On May 28, 2002, HFS acquired 100% of the equity in
Easy Systems, Inc. (“Easy Systems”) for approximately $10.8
million, net of cash acquired. Easy Systems was a software
solutions company that provided turnkey branch automation
solutions for the community bank market. The addition of Easy
Systems allows HFS to offer financial institutions proven and
leading-edge solutions to help them strengthen customer rela-
tionships while improving operations. 
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Carrying amounts of developed technology and content are
included in the other assets caption on the balance sheets and
the related amortization expense is included in the cost of
goods sold caption on the statements of income. 

Aggregate amortization expense for intangible assets totaled
$8.9 million, $8.8 million and $7.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The esti-
mated intangible amortization expense for each of the next five
years beginning January 1, 2005 is as follows (in thousands):

Year Amount
2005 $ 7,454
2006 6,862
2007 5,916
2008 4,269
2009 2,511
Thereafter 6,618
Total $ 33,630

4. ASSET IMPAIRMENT CHARGES
In September 2004, the Company concluded that upgrading
certain existing customer care systems in its Printed Products
segment would be more economical than continued develop-
ment of portions of certain new customer care systems for 
the segment. The decision to terminate development efforts
required a non-cash pre-tax impairment charge of $7.9 
million which was based on previously capitalized costs, less
accumulated depreciation thereon, for the portions of the sys-
tem where development was discontinued. The Company will
continue with development and implementation of the remain-
ing portions of the customer care infrastructure project for the
Printed Products segment.

During the second quarter of 2004, a Printed Products 
facility was closed pursuant to the plant consolidation plan 
(see Note 5). A $2.4 million charge, which is included in asset
impairment charges on the statements of income, was recorded
to adjust the basis of the facility to its estimated fair value
based on a recent offer and the fair value was reclassified as
held for sale (see Note 6).

5. REORGANIZATION
In September 2003, the Company announced a reorganization
of its Printed Products operations including the consolidation 
of its domestic manufacturing operations from 14 plants to 9
plants, which was completed during the third quarter of 2004.
Two of the facilities that were closed were leased. One of these
facilities is under lease through late 2005 and the other is
under lease through mid-2010. During the third quarter of
2004, the Company sublet the latter facility to a third party 
for the remaining term of the lease.

The unaudited pro forma summary presented includes 
adjustments for increased amortization of intangible assets and
i n c reased interest expense. The pro forma summary also includes
the write-off of acquired in-process re s e a rch and development
costs totaling $3.0 million. The unaudited pro forma summary
does not purport to be indicative of either the results of opera-
tions that would have occurred had the acquisitions taken place
at the beginning of the period presented or of future re s u l t s .

3. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not
amortized but are tested at least annually for impairment.
Separable intangible assets with definitive lives are amortized
over their useful lives. 

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill by business
segment for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 
are as follows (in thousands):

Printed Software & Consoli-
Products Services Scantron dated

Balances as of
December 31, 2002 $ 24,709 $142,099 $43,654 $210,462

Goodwill acquired
during 2003  – 9,537 – 9,537

Purchase price
allocation 
adjustments – net – (2,162) (88) (2,250)

Balances as of
December 31, 2003 24,709 149,474 43,566 217,749

Goodwill acquired
during 2004  – 21,452 – 21,452

Purchase price
allocation 
adjustments – net – (5,202) (12) (5,214)

Balances as of
December 31, 2004 $ 24,709 $165,724 $43,554 $233,987

Intangible assets with definitive lives at December 31, 2004
and 2003 were comprised of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003

Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accum. Carrying Carrying Accum. Carrying
Amount Amort. Amount Amount Amort. Amount

Developed

technology $31,547 $(16,828) $14,719 $24,787 $(11,851) $12,936

Customer

lists 30,005 (15,758) 14,247 25,900 (12,366) 13,534

Trademarks 3,800 (879) 2,921 3,800 (499) 3,301

Content 2,300 (557) 1,743 2,300 (327) 1,973

Total $67,652 $(34,022) $33,630 $56,787 $(25,043) $31,744
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In addition to the plant consolidation, Printed Products
implemented other staffing reductions beginning in the fourth
quarter of 2003 which were completed during the third quarter
of 2004. These actions were primarily due to excess capacity in
production facilities resulting from efficiencies realized from
digital printing technology and lower volumes attributable to the
losses of certain large customers, including a direct check mar-
keter, and general market volume decline. The Company under-
took these actions to bring its production and support structures
in line with its business levels.

The following table presents the cumulative net costs of these
actions incurred through December 31, 2004 (in thousands):

Staffing
Plant Reduction

Consolidation Actions

Employee severance $ 2,845 $ 4,545
Revision of depreciable lives and 

salvage values 3,459 –
Asset impairment charge and 

disposal (gains) and losses (1,168) –
Relocation and other costs 2,117 –
Contract termination costs related 

to leaseholds 876 –
Total $ 8,129 $ 4,545

The following table presents net expenses by income 
statement caption for plant consolidation and other staff i n g
reduction actions for the years ended December 31, 2004 
and 2003 (in thousands):

2004 2003    

Plant consolidation expenses:
Cost of products sold $ 5,347 $ 3,950
Asset impairment charges 2,444 –
Gain on disposal of assets – net (3,612) –

Total $ 4,179 $ 3,950
Other staffing reduction actions:

Cost of products sold                                 $ – $ 30
Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,644 2,871

The following table reconciles the beginning and ending 
liability balances for 2004 and 2003 related to these actions
and are included in the other accrued liabilities caption on the
balance sheet (in thousands):

C h a rged to 
B e g i n n i n g Costs and Utilized Ending
B a l a n c e Expenses Cash Non-Cash Balance

2003
Plant consolidation:

Employee severance  $ – $1,730 $ (71) $ – $ 1,659
Revision of 

depreciable lives 
and salvage values – 2,138 – (2,138) –

Relocation and
other costs  – 82 (82) – –

Staffing reduction 
actions:
Employee severance – 2,901 (1,776) – 1,125

Total – 6,851 (1,929) (2,138) 2,784

2004
Plant consolidation:

Employee severance 1,659 1,115 (2,563) – 211
Revision of 

depreciable lives 
and salvage values       – 1,321 – (1,321) –

Asset impairment 
charge and disposal 
(gains) and losses – (1,168) 5,301 (4,133) –

Relocation and 
other costs – 2,035 (2,035) – –

Contract termination
costs related to 
leaseholds – 876 (362) 167 681

Staffing reduction 
actions:
Employee severance 1 , 1 2 5 1 , 6 4 4 ( 2 , 7 0 8 ) – 6 1

To t a l $2 , 7 8 4 $5 , 8 2 3 $( 2 , 3 6 7 ) $( 5 , 2 8 7 ) $ 9 5 3

6. PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE
P ro p e rty held for sale at December 31, 2004 and 2003 
consists of the following (in thousands):

2004 2003
Land $ 736 $ 190
Buildings and improvements 2,645 2,362
Machinery and equipment 6 50
Furniture and fixtures 51 24
Property held for sale $ 3,438 $ 2,626
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Long-term debt consisted of the following as of December
31, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands):

2004 2003

Credit Facility $101,300 $ 127,057
Other                                                    – 101
Total 101,300 127,158
Less current portion                                5,000 5,099
Long-term debt $ 96,300 $ 122,059

At December 31, 2004, the Credit Facility consisted of
$101.3 million in outstanding cash borrowings and $5.5 
million in outstanding letters of credit. At December 31, 2004,
the Company had $313.2 million of availability. The average
interest rate in effect on outstanding cash borrowings at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, including the effect of the
Company’s interest rate hedging program (see Note 13), was
3.30% and 2.94%, respectively.

Other long-term debt relates to other miscellaneous obliga-
tions. At December 31, 2004, the Company believes it was 
in compliance with the covenants associated with all debt
i n s t ruments. Annual maturities of long-term debt during the
next five years are $5.0 million annually in 2005 through 
2008 and $81.3 million in 2009.

8. INCOME TAXES
The income tax provision (benefit) for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 consisted of the 
following (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002

Current:
Federal $ 5,187 $ 28,366 $ 18,969
State 1,820 4,597 2,439
Foreign 195 91 837

Total 7,202 33,054 22,245
Deferred:

Federal 23,407 (1,994) 9,001
State 2,178 (257) 1,577

Total 25,585 (2,251) 10,578
Total income taxes $ 32,787 $ 30,803 $ 32,823

The Company utilized net operating losses, capital losses 
and tax credits of $29.1 million, $2.6 million and $3.3 million
in the calculation of current tax expense for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, re s p e c t i v e l y. The 
substantial increase in net operating loss utilization in 2004 
is primarily a result of an agreement reached with the Intern a l
Revenue Service. The agreement allowed the cumulative net
operating losses of a subsidiary not consolidated for tax purposes
to be deducted in the consolidated Company federal tax re t u rn s .

At December 31, 2004, pro p e rty held for sale was $3.4
million, which consisted of the Company’s Printed Pro d u c t s
facility in Denver, Colorado. At December 31, 2003, pro p e rt y
held for sale consisted of the Company’s Printed Pro d u c t s
facility in St. Louis, Missouri. During the fourth quarter of
2004, the Company sold the St. Louis facility and realized a
p re-tax gain of $0.1 million from the sale.

During the second quarter of 2004, the Denver facility was
closed pursuant to the plant consolidation plan. A $2.4 million
charge, which is included in asset impairment charges on the
statements of income, was recorded to adjust the basis of the
facility to its estimated fair value and was reclassified as held
for sale. Management is actively marketing the sale of the Denver
facility and believes it will be sold within the next 12 months.

During the first quarter of 2004, the Company sold its
Printed Products facility in San Diego, California, which became
available pursuant to the plant consolidation plan, and realized
a pre-tax gain of $3.7 million on the sale of the facility.

In 2003, the Company sold its Printed Products facility in
Portland, Oregon and realized a pre-tax gain of $0.8 million.

7. LONG-TERM DEBT
In Febru a ry 2004, the Company amended its credit facility
(the “Credit Facility”) with a syndicate of banks increasing 
the amount from $325.0 million to $425.0 million. The Cre d i t
F a c i l ity is comprised of a $100.0 million term loan and a
$325.0 million revolving loan, both of which mature in 2009.
The term loan re q u i res annual repayments of $5.0 million. 
As a result, the Credit Facility will decrease by $5.0 million
per annum to $400.0 million at the 2009 maturity date. 
The Credit Facility may be used for general corporate purpos-
es, including acquisitions, and includes both direct borro w i n g s
and letters of credit. The Credit Facility is unsecured and the
Company presently pays a commitment fee of 0.175% on the
unused amount of the Credit Facility. Borrowings under the
C redit Facility bear interest, at the Company’s option, based
upon one of the following indices (plus a margin as defined):
the Federal Funds Rate, the SunTrust Bank Base Rate or
LIBOR (as defined therein). The Credit Facility has cert a i n
financial covenants including, among other items, leverage,
fixed charge coverage and minimum net worth re q u i re m e n t s .
The Credit Facility also has restrictions that limit the
C o m p a n y ’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, grant secu-
rity interests or sell its assets beyond certain amounts.
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various foreign countries. Determination of the amount of
u n recognized deferred U.S. income tax liability is not practi-
cable because of the complexities associated with its hypo-
thetical calculation; however, unrecognized foreign tax cre d i t s
would be available to reduce a portion of the U.S. liability.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had net operating and
capital loss carry f o rw a rds and other tax credits available for 
federal and state income tax purposes, which expire as indicated
below (in thousands):

Net Operating Loss
Carryforwards Capital Loss

Year of Federal State Carryforwards Other
Expiration Gross After Tax Gross After Tax

2005 - 2007    $ – $ -– $3,612 $ 47
2008 - 2019           – 2,416 – 157
2020 - 2023      14,252 – – 1,039
No expiration         – – – 571
Total $14,252 $2,416 $3,612 $1,814

A substantial amount of these federal tax carry f o rw a rd s
w e re acquired in the acquisitions the Company made in 2000
and 2002. There f o re, utilization of these tax carry f o rw a rds is
subject to an annual limitation under the Internal Revenue
Code and Regulations. 

The Company has established a valuation allowance for 
certain net operating loss and capital loss carryforwards.
Management believes that, based on a number of factors, the
available objective evidence creates uncertainty regarding the
utilization of these carryforwards. 

At December 31, 2004, there was a $1.6 million valuation
allowance for federal credits and state net operating losses,
which will be recorded as a reduction to goodwill if utilized. 

The following reconciles the income tax provision at the U.S.
federal income tax statutory rate of 35% to that in the financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002 (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Statutory rate $ 30,766 $ 30,369 $ 29,839
State and local income taxes, net

of federal income tax benefit 3,200 2,804 2,396
Change in valuation allowance (45) (2,600) 65
In-process research and 

development charge – – 1,050
Benefits from tax credits (1,228) (1,117) (593)
Other – net   94 1,347 66
Income tax provision $ 32,787 $ 30,803 $ 32,823

The reduction in the valuation allowance in 2003 and 
2004 was a result of the utilization of capital loss carry f o rw a rd s
for which a valuation allowance had been recorded in 2001. 

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
the income tax provision included expense of $1.2 million,
$0.2 million and $0.1 million, re s p e c t i v e l y, for tax benefits
which were re c o rded as a reduction of goodwill and included
expense of $1.4 million, $1.9 million and $3.1 million,
re s p e c t i v e l y, for tax benefits from stock-based compensation
that were included in shareholders’ equity.

The tax effects of significant items comprising the
Company’s net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2004
and 2003 were as follows (in thousands):

2004 2003
Current deferred tax asset:

Accrued vacation $ 2,169 $ 3,067 
Deferred revenues 2,165 1,732 
Accrued liabilities                                  2,640 3,757 
Benefit of net operating loss carryforwards         1,668 20,162 
Allowance for doubtful accounts                        849 733 
Other                                               (1,098) 3,066 

Total                                                  8,393 32,517 
Noncurrent deferred tax asset (liability):

Difference between book and tax basis
of long-term assets                              (23,711) (28,175)

Deferred revenues                                    3,965 2,627 
Deferred compensation                                3,182 2,516 
Postretirement benefits obligation                  5,481 5,419 
Capital loss carryforwards                             279 25,753 
Benefit of net operating loss carryforwards          8,815 12,514 
Other                                                1,588 2,476 

Total                                                   (401) 23,130 
Valuation allowance                                   (4,291) (28,217)
Noncurrent deferred tax liability                   (4,692) (5,087)
Net deferred tax asset                             $ 3,701 $ 27,430

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the total of all deferred tax
assets was $69.2 million and $135.2 million, re s p e c t i v e l y, and
the total of all deferred tax liabilities was $61.3 million and
$79.5 million, re s p e c t i v e l y. The $23.9 million reduction in valua-
tion allowance was primarily attributable to the utilization of capital
loss carry f o rw a rds due to an agreement reached with the Intern a l
Revenue Service re g a rding the elimination of the majority of a
capital loss generated in prior years.

At December 31, 2004, undistributed earnings of fore i g n
subsidiaries totaled $7.0 million. No provision has been made
for U.S. federal and state income taxes or foreign taxes that
may result from future remittances of such undistributed
e a rnings because it is expected that such earnings will be
reinvested indefinitely. Upon distribution of those earnings 
in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be
subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment
for foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to the
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In 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Stock Option 
Plan which authorizes the issuance of up to 3,000,000 shares
through stock options and grants of restricted stock. The 2000
Plan is substantially similar to the 1999 Plan, except that the
Company’s executive officers are ineligible to receive options 
or stock grants thereunder.

In 2002, the Company adopted the 2002 Stock Option 
Plan which authorizes the issuance of up to 1,000,000 shares
t h rough stock options and grants of restricted stock. The 2002
plan is substantially similar to the 1999 plan. 

As of December 31, 2004, there were 3,808,230 shares 
of common stock re s e rved for issuance under these stock
option plans.

Restricted stock grants prior to 2004 generally vest over a peri-
od of five years, subject to earlier vesting if the Company’s com-
mon stock outperf o rms the S&P 500 in two of three consecutive
years. The cert i ficates covering the restricted stock are not issued
until the restrictions lapse, but the shares have all the rights of
other shares of common stock, including the right to receive 
cash dividends, but are not transferable. The restricted stock is
generally forfeited if the employee is terminated for any re a s o n
prior to the lapse in restrictions, other than death or disability.
Commencing in April 2004, restricted stock grants do not contain
the accelerated perf o rm a n c e - related vesting described above and
generally vest ratably over five years or, in the case of certain 
o fficers, vest on the third, fourth and fifth anniversary dates at the
rate of one third on each such date. 

On December 31, 2004, the conditions for early vesting were
met on 136,500 shares after the Company’s common stock out-
performed the S&P 500 in 2004 and 2002. On December 31,
2002, the conditions for early vesting were met on 120,450
shares after the Company’s common stock outperformed the S&P
500 in 2002 and 2001. 

In Febru a ry 2001, the Company effected a voluntary pro g r a m
allowing certain officers to exchange certain options for a grant 
of restricted stock. Options to purchase 840,000 shares with a
weighted average exercise price of $24.09 were exchanged for
295,905 shares of restricted stock. At the same time, an addition-
al 105,500 shares of restricted stock were granted to such off i c e r s
as part of an annual grant. These shares of restricted stock vest 
to the extent of one third of the grant when the closing stock price
reaches at least $22.50 for ten consecutive trading days and 
two thirds of the grant vest when the closing stock price similarly
reaches at least $27.00. In August 2001, the vesting conditions
for one third of these shares were met and, in Febru a ry 2002, 
the vesting conditions on the remaining two thirds were met.

In April 2002, upon approval of the 2002 Stock Option Plan
by the Company’s shareholders, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer was granted 50,000 restricted shares. The restrictions
expired on 12,500 shares in December 2002, 12,500 shares 
in December 2003 and 25,000 shares in December 2004. He
was also granted an option at such time to purchase 400,000
shares at $31.00 per share. This option has a ten-year life 
and was fully vested and exercisable at the date of grant.

9. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
In January 2003, the Board authorized the purchase of
3,000,000 shares. Shares purchased may be held in treasury,
used for acquisitions, used to fund the Company’s stock benefit
and compensation plans or for other corporate purposes. 
In 2004, the Company purchased a total of 1,399,300 shares
at a cost of $45.3 million or an average cost of $32.37 per
share. At December 31, 2004, a total of 1,821,278 shares 
had been purchased at an average cost of $31.21 per share
and 1,178,722 shares were available for repurchase under 
the January 2003 authorized program.

In 1999, the Company renewed its Shareholder Rights
Agreement. The rights were distributed as a dividend at the rate
of one right for each share of common stock of the Company
held by shareholders of record. Each right entitles shareholders
to buy, upon occurrence of certain events, $180.00 worth of
common stock for $90.00, subject to adjustment based on the
market value of such common stock at that time. The rights
generally will be exercisable only if a person or group acquires
beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the Company’s
common stock, or commences a tender or exchange offer that, 
upon consummation, would result in a person or group owning
30% or more of the Company’s common stock. Under certain
circumstances the rights are redeemable at a price of $0.001
per right. The rights expire on July 5, 2009.

10. STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS
Under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”),
the Company is authorized to issue up to 5,100,000 shares of
common stock to its employees, most of whom are eligible to
participate. Under the ESPP, eligible employees may exercise
an option to purchase shares of Company stock through payroll
deductions. The option price is 85% of the lower of the begin-
ning-of-quarter or end-of-quarter market price. During 2004,
2003 and 2002, employees exercised options to purchase
140,574, 154,953, and 111,883 shares, respectively. Options
granted under the ESPP were at prices ranging from $23.38 to
$26.90 in 2004, $18.99 to $22.67 in 2003 and $18.30 to
$24.51 in 2002. At December 31, 2004, there were 343,908
shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the ESPP.

Under the Company’s 1999 Stock Option Plan, the Company
may grant stock options to key employees to purchase shares 
of Company stock at no less than the fair market value of 
the stock on the date of the grant or issue restricted stock to
such employees. The Company is authorized to issue up to
2,000,000 shares of common stock under the plan. Stock
options have a maximum life of ten years and generally vest 
ratably over a five-year period beginning on the first anniversary
date of the grant. Upon adoption of the 1999 plan, the Company
t e rminated a previous plan except for options outstanding there-
u n d e r. Options granted under such plan are generally exerc i s a b l e
ratably over a five-year period beginning on the first anniversary
of the date of grant, and have a maximum life of ten years.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ( c o n t i n u e d )

J o h n  H .  H a r l a n d  C o m p a n y  a n d  S u b s i d i a r i e s   I 2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t4 8



A summary of restricted stock transactions during the 
three years ended December 31, 2004, follows:

Weighted
Average

Shares Fair Value

Outstanding – December 31, 2001 488,955    $ 20.61
Restricted stock issued 310,600 24.08
Restrictions lifted (413,055) 21.53(a)

Restricted stock forfeited (88,600) 19.11
Outstanding – December 31, 2002 297,900 23.39

Restricted stock issued 124,200 21.77
Restrictions lifted (25,000) 21.84
Restricted stock forfeited (63,400) 22.68

Outstanding – December 31, 2003 333,700 23.04
Restricted stock issued 448,582 31.60
Restrictions lifted (149,975) 24.31
Restricted stock forfeited (55,545) 26.17

Outstanding – December 31, 2004 576,762 $ 29.07

(a) Does not include the impact of $3.85 per share related to restrictions lifted 
on 267,205 shares where a new measurement of compensation cost based 
on the market value on the vesting date was required by FASB Interpretation 
No. 44 provisions related to income tax withholdings. Such cost was included 
in the results of operations in 2002.

The Company has a deferred compensation plan for its
non-employee directors covering a maximum of 400,000
s h a res. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were
374,443, and 176,757 shares, re s p e c t i v e l y, re s e rved for
issuance of which 159,237 and 129,845 shares, re s p e c t i v e-
l y, were allocated but unissued. The remaining 215,206 and
46,912 shares, re s p e c t i v e l y, were re s e rved and unallocated
under the directors’ compensation plan.

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
the Company recognized expense related to stock-based 
compensation (for restricted stock granted to employees and
the deferred compensation plan for non-employee dire c t o r s )
of $5.6 million, $2.4 million and $9.9 million, re s p e c t i v e l y. 

In 1998, the Board of Directors granted 50,000 restricted
shares of the Company’s common stock to the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer. The restrictions expired on 25,000 shares in
October 2001, on 12,500 shares in October 2002 and on the
remaining 12,500 shares in October 2003. 

A summary of option transactions during the three 
years ended December 31, 2004, follows:

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Shares Price

Outstanding – December 31, 2001 3,436,599  $ 16.36
Options granted 1,656,675 24.84
Options forfeited (438,300) 18.25
Options exercised (566,749) 16.11

Outstanding – December 31, 2002 4,088,225 19.63
Options granted 712,675 21.73
Options forfeited (460,525) 20.07
Options exercised (484,450) 15.38

Outstanding – December 31, 2003 3,855,925 20.50
Options granted 21,700  28.55
Options forfeited (197,595) 20.92
Options exercised (694,790) 17.96

Outstanding – December 31, 2004 2,985,240 $ 21.12

The following table summarizes information pertaining to
options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2004:

Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average Weighted

Remaining Average
Range of Contractual Exercise
Exercise Prices Options Life (Years) Price

$12.75 to $13.94 531,200 4.82 $ 13.35
$14.31 to $15.44 287,700 5.15 15.19
$16.38 to $20.00 288,290 3.99 19.82
$20.21 to $24.03 1,197,110 7.42 21.75
$24.24 to $31.88 680,940 7.49 29.14
Total 2,985,240 6.42 $ 21.12

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average

Range of Exercise
Exercise Prices Options Price
$12.75 to $13.94  439,550 $ 13.28
$14.31 to $15.44 173,800 15.22
$16.38 to $20.00 282,190 19.89
$20.21 to $24.03 321,290 22.11
$24.24 to $31.88 488,340 30.28
Total 1,705,170 $ 21.10
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12. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Company sponsors two unfunded defined postretirement
benefit plans that cover certain salaried and nonsalaried
employees. One plan provides health care benefits and the other
provides life insurance benefits. The medical plan is contributo-
ry and contributions are adjusted annually based on actual
claims experience. For retirees who retired prior to December
31, 2002 with twenty or more years of service at December 31,
2000, the Company contributes approximately 50% of the cost
of providing the medical plan. For all other retirees, the
Company’s intent is that the retirees provide the majority of the
actual cost of providing the medical plan. The life insurance
plan is noncontributory for those employees that retired by
December 31, 2002.

As previously mentioned in Note 1, the Company’s accumu-
lated postretirement benefit obligations and net periodic postre-
tirement benefit cost do not reflect the effects of the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of
2003 on the health care benefit plan because the Company has
not completed its determination whether plan benefits are at
least actuarially equivalent to portions of the Act. Management
does not believe that the effects of the Act will materially affect
the Company’s postretirement obligations or its future postre-
tirement benefit expense.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation (“APBO”) under such plans
was $21.2 million and $23.4 million, re s p e c t i v e l y. Measure m e n t
dates of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 were
used for these plans. The following table reconciles the plans’
beginning and ending balances of the APBO and reconciles the
plans’ status to the accrued postretirement health care and life
insurance liability reflected on the balance sheet as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands):

2004 2003

APBO as of January 1:
Retirees $23,354 $19,514 
Fully eligible participants                      – –

23,354 19,514 
Net change in APBO:

Interest costs 1,208 1,397 
Benefits paid (2,417) (2,454)
Retiree contributions 1,147 970 
Actuarial loss (gain) (2,102) 3,927 

Total net change in APBO (2,164) 3,840 
APBO as of December 31:

Retirees 21,190 23,354 
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (7,322) (9,645)
Accrued postretirement cost –

included in other liabilities $13,868 $13,709 

P ro forma compensation costs (see Note 1) associated with
options granted under the ESPP were estimated based on the
discount from market value. The following presents the esti-
mated weighted average fair value of options granted and the
weighted average assumptions used under the Black-Scholes
option pricing model for each of the years ended December
31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002

Fair value per option $ 9.60 $ 8.07 $10.33 

Weighted average assumptions:
Dividend yield 1.4% 1.4% 1.2%
Expected volatility 36.1% 40.8% 41.0%
Risk-free interest rate 4.1% 4.0% 4.8%
Expected life (years) 5.0 5.2 5.8 

11. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT AND SAVINGS PLANS
The Company’s Master 401(k) Plan and Trust (“401(k) plan”)
is a defined contribution 401(k) plan with an employer match
covering any employee of the Company or a participating 
a ffiliate. Participants may contribute on a pre-tax and after- t a x
basis, subject to maximum IRS limits. The Company matches
employee contributions at the rate of $0.50 for every dollar
contributed up to a maximum Company-matching contribution
of 3% of qualified annual compensation. The Company re c o g-
nized matching contributions to the 401(k) plan of $5.0 million 
in 2004, $4.8 million in 2003 and $4.2 million in 2002.
Additional contributions may be made from accumulated and/or
current net profits. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, additional contri-
butions to the 401(k) plan of $1.7 million, $1.8 million and
$1.4 million, respectively, were recognized by the Company.

The Company has a nonqualified deferred compensation plan
similar to the 401(k) plan. This plan provides an opportunity for
eligible employees to contribute additional amounts for re t i re-
ment savings once they have reached the maximum contribution
amount in the 401(k) plan. The Company’s contributions to this
plan were not significant. As of December 31, 2004 the
Company has recognized a noncurrent liability of $5.5 million
related to this plan which re p resents the market value of invest-
ments held under the plan. Such investments are held by a rabbi
t rust and are classified as trading securities in the Investments
caption on the Consolidated Balance Sheets (see Note 1).

The Company has unfunded deferred compensation agree-
ments with certain current and former officers. The present
value of cash benefits payable under the agreements is being
accrued over the periods of active employment and totaled 
$5.0 million at December 31, 2004 and $3.2 million at
December 31, 2003. In 2004, 2003 and 2002 the Company
recognized expense of $1.5 million, $0.1 million and $0.2 
million, respectively, related to these agreements. Expense 
for 2004 included $1.2 million due to a change in life
expectancy assumptions.
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The Company expects to contribute $1.5 million to the 
plans in 2005. The following reflects the estimated future 
benefit payments net of estimated participant contributions 
that are expected to be paid:

Year(s) Amount 

2005 $1,500
2006 1,471
2007 1,459
2008 1,445
2009 1,427
2010 – 2014 6,347

13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash
equivalents, investments, receivables, accounts payable, 
borrowings and interest rate risk management contracts.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and 
s h o rt - t e rm debt approximated carrying values because of the
s h o rt - t e rm nature of these instruments. The carrying values of
investments and long-term debt approximate their fair value.
T h e re were no interest rate swaps outstanding at December 31,
2004. At December 31, 2003, the fair value of interest rate
swaps was a liability of $0.4 million.

During 2002 and 2001, the Company entered into intere s t
rate swap agreements to manage its exposure to interest rate
movements by effectively exchanging floating rate payments
for fixed rate payments without the exchange of the underlying
principal. The interest rate swaps were directly matched
against U.S. dollar LIBOR contracts outstanding under the
C o m p a n y ’s Credit Facility and were reset quart e r l y. The diff e r-
ential between fixed and variable rates to be paid or re c e i v e d
was accrued as interest rates changed in accordance with 
the agreements and was recognized over the life of the 
a g reements as an adjustment to interest expense. The intere s t
rate swaps matured in 2004.  The amended Credit Facility
m a t u res in 2009. The Company will continue to evaluate 
the need to manage its exposure to interest rate movements 
and may enter into additional interest rate swap agre e m e n t s
f rom time to time.

At December 31, 2003, the notional principal amount of
interest rate swaps outstanding was $59.0 million. The fair
value of the swaps is reported on the balance sheet in other 
liabilities. The net change in fair value of the swaps at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 is reported in other comprehen-
sive income. The swaps are highly effective and no significant
amounts for hedge ineffectiveness were reported in net income
during 2004 and 2003.

Net periodic postretirement costs (“NPPC”) are summarized
as follows (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002

Interest on APBO $1,208 $ 1,397 $ 1,419
Net amortization                           221 281 251
Total                                $1,429 $ 1,678 $ 1,670

In 2000, the Company eliminated employer subsidies for
all future re t i rees except those that had twenty or more years
of service as of December 31, 2000 and re t i red prior to
December 31, 2002. 

The weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit
obligations as of December 31 were as follows:

2004 2003

Discount rate 5.75% 6.0%

The weighted average assumptions used to determine NPPC
for years ended December 31 were as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Discount rate 6.0% 6.5% 7.0%

The following trend rate assumptions were used as of
December 31:

2004 2003

Health care cost trend rate:
Assumed for next year 7.0% 9.0%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed

to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 5.0% 5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2009 2009

Participant contributions trend rates:
Assumed for next year 7.0% 12.0%
Rate to which the contribution trend rate is

assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 5.0% 5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2009 2009

The medical cost and participant contributions trend rate
assumptions could have a significant effect on amounts 
re p o rted. A change in the assumed trend rate of 1 perc e n t a g e
point would have the following effects (in thousands):

1 Percentage 1 Percentage
Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on total interest cost $ 95 $ (81)
Effect on postretirement 

benefit obligation 1,760 (1,489)
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$0.7 million and $0.2 million, respectively. No remediation
costs were included in the results of operations in 2002. The
Company currently shares remediation costs for a property it 
formerly owned in Tennessee and for a superfund cleanup site
in New Jersey and, based on currently available information,
does not believe additional accruals, if any, will be significant.

15. BUSINESS SEGMENTS
The Company operates its business in three segments. The
Company has organized its business segments based on prod-
ucts, services and markets served. Each business segment 
has a division president who reports to the Company's Chief
Executive Officer, the chief operating decision maker. The
Printed Products segment (“Printed Products”) includes checks,
direct marketing activities and analytical services marketed 
primarily to financial institutions. The Software and Services
segment (“Software & Services”) is focused on the financial
institution market and includes core processing applications
and services for credit unions and community banks, lending
and mortgage origination applications, mortgage servicing 
applications, branch automation applications and customer 
relationship management applications. The Scantron segment
represents products and services sold by the Company’s
Scantron subsidiary including scanning equipment and soft-
ware, scannable forms, survey solutions, curriculum planning
software, testing and assessment tools, training and field main-
tenance services. Scantron sells these products and services 
to the education, commercial and financial institution markets.

The Company’s operations are primarily in the United
States and Puerto Rico. There were no significant interseg-
ment sales. The Company does not have sales to any individ-
ual customer greater than 10% of total Company sales. Equity
investments, as well as foreign assets and revenues, are not
significant to the consolidated results of the Company. The
C o m p a n y ’s accounting policies for segments are the same as
those described in Note 1. 

Management evaluates segment perf o rmance based on seg-
ment income or loss before income taxes. Segment income or
loss excludes interest income, interest expense and cert a i n
other non-operating gains and losses, all of which are consid-
e red Corporate items. The Company also considers stock-based
compensation costs to be a Corporate item except for a grant
made in 2004 to replace an incentive agreement (see Note 2).
C e rtain incentive compensation costs in 2002 were re c l a s s i-
fied from Corporate to the Printed Products and Software &
S e rvices segments to conform to the 2004 and 2003 classifi-
cations. Corporate assets consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents, deferred income taxes, investments and other
assets not employed in pro d u c t i o n .

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
In the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to
various legal proceedings and claims. The Company believes
that the ultimate outcome of these matters will not have a
material effect on its financial statements.

Total rental expense was $16.9 million in 2004, $17.4 
million in 2003 and $15.9 million in 2002. Minimum annual
rental payments under noncancelable leases at December 31,
2004 are as follows (in thousands):

Operating
Year Leases

2005 $14,345
2006 11,780
2007 10,798
2008 10,595
2009 9,706
Thereafter 19,331
Total $76,555

Minimum annual rental payments in the above table have
not been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $2.7 million.

The Company has contracts with certain customers that 
contain provisions that call for future payments to the customer.
These payments are amortized as a reduction of sales over the
life of the related contract and are generally refundable from
the customer on a pro-rata basis if the contract is terminated.
As of December 31, 2004, the Company’s future cash obliga-
tions for these contracts are as follows (in thousands):

Future
Year Payments

2005 $ 22,326
2006 16,663
2007 16,103
2008 8,800
2009 8,000
Total $ 71,892

The Company accrues for environmental remediation costs
for work at locations where an assessment has indicated that
cleanup costs are probable and reasonably estimable. Such
accruals are undiscounted and are based on currently available
information. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company
had $0.8 million and $0.4 million, respectively, included in
other current liabilities for estimated environmental remediation
costs. For the years ended December 2004 and 2003, results
of operations included environmental remediation costs of 
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Summarized financial information for 2004, 2003 and 
2002 is as follows (in thousands):

Business Segment
Printed  Software &  Corporate & Consoli-

Products Services Scantron E l i m i n a t i o n s dated 

2004

Sales $488,688 $193,843 $116,643 $ (687) $798,487

Income (loss) 66,016(a) 25,364 32,841 (36,319) 87,902

Identifiable assets 220,325 239,450 74,048 39,954 573,777

Depreciation and

other amortization 55,084 11,679 4,288 728 71,779

Capital expenditures 23,634 2,070 3,205 34 28,943

2003 

Sales $498,257 $176,833 $113,236 $ (1,658) $786,668

Income (loss) 69,282(a) 17,741 25,644 (25,898) 86,769

Identifiable assets 236,328 216,026 74,309 40,314 566,977

Depreciation and 

other amortization 46,250 11,789 4,050 1,094 63,183

Capital expenditures 20,802 3,758 3,353 159 28,072

2002

Sales  $526,201 $135,568 $107,822 $ (1,784) $767,807

Income (loss) 85,097 11,341 29,232 (40,415) 85,255

Identifiable assets 221,892 202,674 77,169 48,952 550,687

Depreciation and 

other amortization 41,671 9,522 2,844 2,588 56,625

Acquired in-process 

research and 

development charge  – 3,000 – – 3,000

Capital expenditures 26,214 2,073 3,702 101 32,090

(a) Includes impairment charges of $10.3 million in 2004 (see Note 4), 
reorganization costs of $5.8 million (includes $2.4 million of impairment
charges) and $6.9 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively, (see Note 5) and 
a $2.9 million favorable adjustment in the fourth quarter of 2004 as a result 
of a policy change for employees’ paid time off.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ( c o n t i n u e d )
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16. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On February 1, 2005, the Company announced plans to
expand its outsourcing services with the signing of a 
definitive agreement to acquire Cincinnati-based Intrieve,
Incorporated (“Intrieve”). The Company expects to consum-
mate the acquisition in April 2005, subject to approval by
Intrieve’s shareholders and certain regulatory agencies.
Intrieve is a provider of technology for financial institutions
including service bureau operations that deliver core process-
ing for thrifts and community banks, comprehensive item 
processing, and electronic banking and payments processing.
In-house solutions include software for financial accounting
and software that allows financial institutions to print their
own laser checks and other MICR documents. Also included
in the transaction is a data-center operation providing co-
location, hosting, managed data services and hot-site back-
up. The acquisition of Intrieve will represent an expansion 
of the Company’s existing outsourced product and service
offerings. Intrieve’s core processing data-center, full service
item processing facility and electronic banking and payment
processing service will support Software & Services’ strategy
of offering clients integrated end-to-end solutions.



The financial statements included in this report were prepared
by the Company in conformity with accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America. Management’s
best estimates and judgments were used, where appropriate.
Management is responsible for the integrity of the financial
statements and for other financial information included in this
report. The financial statements have been audited by the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm,
Deloitte & Touche LLP. As set forth in their re p o rt, their audits
w e re conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and formed the basis
for their opinion on the accompanying financial statements.
They consider the Company’s control structure and perform
such tests and other procedures as they deem necessary to
express an opinion on the fairness of the financial statements.

The Company maintains a control stru c t u re which is designed
to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and
that the financial re c o rds re flect the authorized transactions of the
C o m p a n y. As a part of this process, the Company has an intern a l
audit function which assists management in evaluating and moni-
toring the adequacy and effectiveness of the control stru c t u re .

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is composed
of directors who are neither officers nor employees of the
C o m p a n y. The Audit Committee meets periodically with man-
agement, internal audit and the independent re g i s t e red pub-
lic accounting firm to discuss audit matters, the Company’s 
c o n t rol stru c t u re and financial re p o rting matters. Intern a l
audit and the independent re g i s t e red public accountants have
full and free access to the Audit Committee.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
of John H. Harland Company and subsidiaries (the “Company”)
as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consoli-
dated statements of income, cash flows, and shareholders’ 
equity for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi-
cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
John H. Harland Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 

2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the 
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and our report dated March 10, 2005
expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment
of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effective-
ness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
March 10, 2005

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of John H. Harland Company:

5 4

Timothy C. Tu ff
C h a i rman, President and Chief Executive Off i c e r

Charles B. Card e n
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Off i c e r
M a rch 10, 2005
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Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial re p o rting, as such term
is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. Under the supervision and with the participation of man-
agement, including the principal executive officer and principal
financial off i c e r, the Company conducted an evaluation of the
e ffectiveness of its internal control over financial re p o rting based
on the framework in I n t e rnal Control – Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on its evaluation under the frame-
work in I n t e rnal Control – Integrated Framework, m a n a g e m e n t
concluded that the Company’s internal control over fin a n c i a l
re p o rting was effective as of December 31, 2004. 

The Company excluded the internal controls of London
Bridge Phoenix Software Inc. (“Phoenix System”) from its
assessment of internal controls. Phoenix System was acquire d
by the Company in November 2004 and constituted 5.6% 
of the Company’s consolidated assets at December 31, 2004
and less than 1% of the Company’s consolidated sales for 
the year then ended.

M a n a g e m e n t ’s assessment of the effectiveness of the
C o m p a n y ’s internal control over financial re p o rting as of
December 31, 2004 has been audited by Deloitte & To u c h e
L L P, an independent re g i s t e red public accounting firm, 
as stated in their re p o rt which is included here i n .

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Timothy C. Tu ff
C h a i rman, President and Chief Executive Off i c e r

Charles B. Card e n
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Off i c e r
M a rch 10, 2005
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R E P O RT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of John H. Harland Company:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting that John H. Harland Company and sub-
sidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective internal contro l
over financial re p o rting as of December 31, 2004, based on 
criteria established in I n t e rnal Control – Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. As described in Management’s Report on
I n t e rnal Control Over Financial Reporting, management excluded
f rom their assessment the internal control over financial re p o rt i n g
at London Bridge Phoenix Software Inc. (“Phoenix System”),
which was acquired in November 2004 and whose fin a n c i a l
statements re flect total assets and sales constituting 5.6 perc e n t
and less than 1 percent, re s p e c t i v e l y, of the related consolidated
financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2004. Accord i n g l y, our audit did not include the
i n t e rnal control over financial re p o rting at Phoenix System. The
C o m p a n y ’s management is responsible for maintaining eff e c t i v e
i n t e rnal control over financial re p o rting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial re p o rting. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
i n t e rnal control over financial re p o rting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards re q u i re that we plan and perf o rm the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal 
c o n t rol over financial re p o rting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of inter-
nal control over financial re p o rting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating eff e c-
tiveness of internal control, and perf o rming such other pro c e d u re s
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial re p o rting is a
p rocess designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons per-
f o rming similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of
d i rectors, management, and other personnel to provide re a s o n a b l e
assurance re g a rding the reliability of financial re p o rting and the
p reparation of financial statements for external purposes in accor-
dance with generally accepted accounting principles. A compa-
n y ’s internal control over financial re p o rting includes those 
policies and pro c e d u res that (1) pertain to the maintenance of

re c o rds that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly re flect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
p rovide reasonable assurance that transactions are re c o rded as
n e c e s s a ry to permit preparation of financial statements in accor-
dance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
a c c o rdance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance re g a rding 
p revention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, 
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
e ffect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over
financial re p o rting, including the possibility of collusion or
i m p roper management override of controls, material misstate-
ments due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on
a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the eff e c-
tiveness of the internal control over financial re p o rting to future
periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degre e
of compliance with the policies or pro c e d u res may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects,
based on the criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated
F r a m e w o r k issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Org a n i z a t i o n s
of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2004 of the Company and our report
dated March 10, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on
those financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Atlanta, Georg i a
M a rch 10, 2005
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S U P P L E M E N TAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION (unaudited) 

SELECTED QUART E R LY FINANCIAL DATA, DIVIDENDS PAID AND STOCK PRICE RANGE

Quarter Ended: March 26 June 25 September 24 December 31
(In thousands except per share amounts)

2004(a) (b):
Sales $190,576 $192,979 $195,975 $ 218,957
Gross profit 88,450 92,209 97,581 112,743
Net income 13,053 8,863 12,093(c) 21,106(d)

Per common share:
Basic earnings 0.48 0.32 0.44 0.78
Diluted earnings 0.46 0.31 0.43 0.75
Dividends paid 0.10 0.10 0.125 0.125
Stock market price:

High 31.85 32.50 30.52 36.41
Low 27.31 28.00 26.91 29.34

Quarter Ended: March 28 June 27 September 26 December 31
2003(a):
Sales $193,425 $192,428 $192,494 $ 208,321
Gross profit 93,832 93,501 94,317 100,198
Net income 13,179 11,250 14,695 16,842(b)(e)

Per common share:
Basic earnings 0.47 0.41 0.53 0.61
Diluted earnings 0.46 0.40 0.52 0.59
Dividends paid 0.075 0.075 0.10 0.10
Stock market price:

High 24.65 26.59 27.92 29.04
Low 20.25 23.00 24.45 25.79

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Year Ended December 31: 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Sales $798,487 $786,668 $ 767,807 $743,203 $720,677
Net income 55,115 55,966 52,432 38,974 28,697
Total assets 573,777 566,977 550,687 472,246 528,548
Long-term debt 101,300 127,059 144,106 124,118 191,617
Per common share:   

Basic earnings 2.02 2.02 1.80 1.34 1.01
Diluted earnings 1.96 1.97 1.73 1.31 1.00
Cash dividends 0.45 0.35 0.30 0.30 0.30

Average number of shares outstanding:
Basic 27,269 27,740 29,121 29,073 28,469
Diluted 28,084 28,411 30,244 29,984 28,832

(a) In 2004 and 2003, the Company acquired certain businesses 
(see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

(b) At the end of the third quarter of 2003, the Printed Products segment 
initiated a reorganization that was completed in 2004 and incurred 
certain expenses, gains and charges during the fourth quarter of 2003 
and during 2004 related to the reorganization (see Notes 4, 5 and 6 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements).

( c ) The third quarter of 2004 includes an impairment charge of $4.9 million 
after income taxes to write-off a portion of certain new customer care systems.

( d ) The fourth quarter of 2004 includes a favorable adjustment of $1.8 million 
after income taxes as a result of a policy change for employees paid time off .

(e) The fourth quarter of 2003 includes a gain on the sale of investments of $2.7
million after income taxes (see Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding an investment 
write-down in 2002, Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding
acquisitions in 2004, 2003 and 2002 and Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements regarding reorganization charges in 2004 and 2003.

Earnings per share are calculated based on the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding during the applicable period. 
The Company's common stock (symbol: JH) is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange. At December 31, 2004 there were 3,223 shareholders of record.




